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          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Good afternoon

          3  everyone.  Thank you for joining us at today's

          4  hearing of the Transportation Committee of the City

          5  Council.  My name is John Liu.  I have the privilege

          6  of Chairing this Committee.  First, let me apologize

          7  to everybody for the delay in starting today's

          8  hearing.  We will be underway now, and once again, I

          9  apologize for the delay.

         10                 The Committee has been convened today

         11  in order to consider Intro. Number 363, a proposed

         12  local law that relates to newsracks.  Intro. Number

         13  363 represents the Council's response to numerous

         14  complaints received by individual Council Members,

         15  this Committee and the Council relating to Local Law

         16  23 of 2002. That relates to the installation,

         17  placement and maintenance of newsracks on New York

         18  City sidewalks.

         19                 Newsracks, for those of you

         20  unfamiliar with the term, are the self- service

         21  vending boxes located on sidewalks throughout our

         22  City that are used to vend newspapers and other

         23  written matter.

         24                 The Council hopes that Intro. Number

         25  363 will address many of the concerns that were also

                                                            5

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  raised before this Committee in a hearing held on

          3  December 9th of 2003, on the status of Local Law 23,

          4  the DOT newsrack rules and the enforcement of the

          5  laws and rules.

          6                 The Council, in this proposed local

          7  law, is striving to provide better clarity and

          8  equity in all facets of the standards set forth for

          9  newsracks and the enforcement of those standards.

         10  Of particular emphasis in this bill, is making clear

         11  what constitutes a violation of the maintenance,

         12  cleanliness and graffiti provisions of the law.  The

         13  bill also seeks to provide greater structure and

         14  clarity to the civil penalty provisions of the law,

         15  while making the penalties more commensurate to the

         16  violations.  The nuances and amendments to the law

         17  being proposed may be found in greater detail in the

         18  briefing papers available to you on the table to the

         19  side.

         20                 This Committee hopes that this bill

         21  provides the basic framework for making Local Law 23

         22  of 2002 even more successful than it already has

         23  been.  The Committee plans to use today's hearing to

         24  fine- tune this initiative, and plans to re visit

         25  this issue with an even stronger bill in the very
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          2  near future.

          3                 Today, we are joined by Council

          4  Member Sarah Gonzalez from Brooklyn, Council Member

          5  Lew Fidler from Brooklyn, Council Member Domenic

          6  Recchia from Brooklyn, and Council Member Andrew

          7  Lanza from Staten Island, and I know before, we were

          8  also joined by Council Member Oliver Koppell from

          9  the Bronx.  At this time, it's my pleasure to invite

         10  Phil Damashek, the General Counsel to the Department

         11  of Transportation and Mike Moran, the Deputy

         12  Director of the Environmental Control Board to come

         13  to the witness table.

         14                 MR. DAMASHEK:  Good afternoon.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Good afternoon.

         16                 MR. DAMASHEK:  Good afternoon to

         17  Chairman Liu and the Members of the Committee.  My

         18  name is Philip Damashek and I'm the General Counsel

         19  of the Department of Transportation, and with me

         20  today is Michael Moran, the Deputy Director of the

         21  Environmental Control Board.

         22                 Thank you for inviting DOT to testify

         23  on Intro. 363 --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  -- I'm sorry Phil,

         25  could you just bring the mic closer to you.
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          2                 MR. DAMASHEK:  Is that better?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  A little bit

          4  closer.

          5                 MR. DAMASHEK:  Lights on, good?

          6  Thank you for inviting DOT to testify on Intro. 363,

          7  relating to the regulation of newsracks.  As you

          8  know, Local Law 23 of 2002 established the framework

          9  to allow DOT to regulate the maintenance and

         10  placement of newsracks around the City.  It was

         11  passed in response to the growing number of

         12  complaints DOT had continually received over the

         13  last several years from residents, community groups,

         14  and elected officials regarding crowded, unsafe

         15  corners and damaged newsracks.  Complaints the City

         16  had been powerless to address.

         17                 The Local Law provides DOT with a

         18  mechanism to regulate the safe placement and

         19  maintenance of newsracks on our City's streets -- if

         20  it's any further in, I'm not sure I'll be able to

         21  speak, but okay --  The Local Law provides DOT with

         22  a mechanism to regulate the safe placement and

         23  maintenance of newsracks on our City's streets.  At

         24  the same time, permits the use of public space by

         25  publishers to make their materials available to the
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          2  public.

          3                 DOT has made much progress in the

          4  implementation of the new law.  Starting from

          5  scratch, the agency promulgated rules and created a

          6  newsracks unit that is responsible for administering

          7  the newsrack notification process, handling

          8  complaints from citizens, conducting newsrack

          9  inspections, issuing any necessary Notices of

         10  Correction and/or summonses and attending ECB

         11  hearings.

         12                 Between April 25, 2003 and May 31 of

         13  this year, DOT has received 2,157 complaints, 4,336

         14  Notices of Corrections have been issued, alerting

         15  newsrack owners that a condition exists, and 3,446

         16  summonses have been issued that have resulted or may

         17  result in the imposition of fines by ECB.  While

         18  DOT's regulatory framework has been successful in

         19  making the City's sidewalks safer and more orderly,

         20  the agency welcomes the opportunity to fine- tune

         21  the regulatory scheme, which is still in its

         22  relative infancy.

         23                 In this regard, while DOT has

         24  concerns with some of the provisions of Intro. 363,

         25  and would like to see the inclusion of others, the
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          2  bill is a step in the right direction. Since the

          3  bill's introduction several weeks ago, the

          4  Administration has been talking with the Council

          5  about potential amendments to the bill, and

          6  accordingly, I will address DOT's key

          7  recommendations and the basic concepts of the bill,

          8  rather than focusing comments on specific

          9  provisions.

         10                 The Administration is supportive of

         11  the concept introduced in Intro. 363 of creating a

         12  self- certification process for the cleaning and

         13  removal of graffiti and other unauthorized writing.

         14  This would allow DOT to reallocate its limited

         15  resources to concentrate on public safety matters

         16  relating to the placement of newsracks.  DOT will be

         17  in a better position to respond to complaints

         18  regarding newsracks in corners, in crosswalks, in

         19  bus stops or curb cuts, all of which jeopardize

         20  public safety.

         21                 However, while Intro. 363 establishes

         22  a self certification requirement that we support,

         23  the bill does not go far enough in fleshing out this

         24  requirement.  For example, the bill does not have

         25  any mechanism to distinguish between newsrack
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          2  owners, whose certifications are accurate

          3  representations of their efforts to maintain their

          4  newsracks, and those whose certifications are

          5  inaccurate.  Our discussions with the Council have

          6  focused on this issue, and we are confident that it

          7  can be resolved so that a mechanism and appropriate

          8  penalties can be put in place to distinguish between

          9  those owners who adhere to the self- certification

         10  process from those who do not.

         11                 We have also made recommendations on

         12  other aspects of Intro. 363.  For example, the bill

         13  provides that DOT recognize a dual responsibility

         14  for each newsrack.  That is, that the agency

         15  acknowledge both the owner or person in control of

         16  the newsrack and any duly appointed agent as the

         17  responsible parties. The bill further requires that

         18  both parties be served with any Notices of

         19  Corrections and/or Violation.  This is problematic,

         20  as from an adjudicatory perspective, only one entity

         21  should be ultimately accountable and legally served.

         22    However, as you may know, DOT has been providing

         23  courtesy copies of Notices to appointed agents, and

         24  DOT would not be opposed to further language stating

         25  that we may continue such practice, as well as any
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          2  language stating that the Notices may be sent

          3  electronically.

          4                 DOT is supportive of the bill's

          5  concept that removes the requirement that the

          6  Notices of Correction be affixed to a newsrack, and

          7  is not opposed to a requirement that a second

          8  inspection must be made within a reasonable time

          9  after the Notice of Correction inspection before DOT

         10  can issue a Notice of Violation.

         11                 Another concept reflected in the bill

         12  would allow a newsrack owner to submit photographic

         13  evidence to the agency as proof that the condition

         14  cited in the Notice of Correction has, in fact, been

         15  corrected.  DOT is not supportive of this concept,

         16  as it would place the agency in a position of being

         17  both enforcer and adjudicator.  The adjudicative

         18  function of sifting and weighing evidence of non-

         19  compliance is one that sits with the ECB and not the

         20  enforcing agency.

         21                 Into. 363 also requires DOT to send

         22  photographic evidence of any violations to the

         23  newsracks' owners, both with notice, with the Notice

         24  of Correction and with any subsequent Notice of

         25  Violation.  While DOT is supportive of sending a
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          2  photo along with the initial Notice of Correction,

          3  the agency does not support the concept of sending a

          4  photo along with Notices of Violation, due to the

          5  fact that these Notices are served on corporate

          6  entities by the Secretary of State and not DOT.

          7  Thus, from an operational perspective, the agency

          8  has no way of assuring that the photos have, in

          9  fact, reached the newsracks' owners.

         10                 The agency believes that the

         11  requirements in both the current law and Intro. 363

         12  relating to notification and insurance must be

         13  strengthened.  The notification process, which is

         14  essentially one of basic registration, whereby each

         15  publisher provides DOT with critical information

         16  about their individual newsrack programs, is the

         17  linchpin on which all other vital provisions of the

         18  newsracks law and program are predicated. Unless the

         19  agency knows the name of a publication and the name,

         20  address, telephone number and e- mail address of the

         21  owner or person in control of the newsrack, and

         22  knows the address of each newsrack, DOT is hampered

         23  in its enforcement of the law. Complying with the

         24  proper levels of insurance, as provided in the

         25  current law, is equally important to ensure that the
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          2  public is protected.

          3                 It should be noted that under the

          4  existing law, a substantial number of newsrack

          5  owners have failed to make compliance with the law's

          6  registration and insurance provisions a priority.

          7  The agency's records indicate that the owners of

          8  approximately 32 percent of the publications

          9  disseminated through newsracks have never provided

         10  any notification information to DOT, and 78 percent

         11  failed to provide DOT with notification information

         12  last quarter.  With regard to insurance

         13  requirements, approximately 50 percent have failed

         14  to submit proof of insurance to the agency.

         15                 DOT would like to see the

         16  notification and insurance requirements of the

         17  current law fortified by requiring newsrack owners

         18  to notify DOT prior to placing any newsrack on a

         19  sidewalk.  This early notification will give DOT the

         20  information it needs to identify owners, whose

         21  newsracks are out of compliance, promptly.  DOT

         22  would also like to see moving to an annual

         23  notification process as opposed to the current

         24  quarterly process.  This will reduce the burden of

         25  compliance on newsrack owners and DOT's monitoring
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          2  of compliance with notification requirements will be

          3  more focused.  DOT would, however, like to see a

          4  mechanism that will allow the agency to receive any

          5  updated information if an owner substantially

          6  increases or decreases the number of newsracks under

          7  their control.

          8                 Because notification and insurance

          9  are key to all other aspects of enforcement, and

         10  because compliance with these provisions has been

         11  relatively low, DOT is also in favor of enhanced

         12  penalties to bring about greater compliance with the

         13  law's notification and insurance requirements.

         14  We'd, we would also like to see the bill, we would

         15  like to see the bill strengthen DOT's ability to

         16  remove abandoned newsracks from the City's sidewalks

         17  by providing a more practical and workable

         18  definition of an abandoned newsrack.

         19                 It should be noted that DOT's primary

         20  concern in fulfilling all its missions, is public

         21  safety.  Here it is ensuring that the newsracks do

         22  not impede the safe movement of pedestrians on the

         23  City's sidewalks.  By amending the current law to

         24  allow for a self- certification process for cleaning

         25  and strengthening the requirements for notification
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          2  and insurance, DOT's ability to enforce the

          3  newsracks law's public safety provisions would be

          4  enhanced.  DOT recognizes that self certification is

          5  a new concept in newsrack compliance and, in this

          6  regard, DOT looks forward to continuing to work with

          7  the Council to further fine- tune the concept.

          8                 In its discussion with the Council,

          9  DOT will examine the self- certification process, so

         10  that an appropriate balance can be achieved that

         11  will ease some of the burden on compliant newsrack

         12  owners, while preserving the ability of DOT to

         13  enforce against non- compliant owners.

         14                 In conclusion, DOT views Intro. 363

         15  as a step in the right direction, and the agency

         16  looks forward to continuing its discussions with the

         17  Council and fine- tuning the concepts contained

         18  therein, so that a mutually agreeable bill can

         19  emerge. Thank you again for the opportunity to

         20  testify before you today. At this time, I would be

         21  happy to answer any questions that you may have.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you very

         23  much, and we certainly, in this Committee,

         24  appreciate the efforts of the Department of

         25  Transportation to help us get through some of the
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          2  bumps along the way in the implementation of Local

          3  Law 23 of 2002.  We had passed, in this Committee

          4  and subsequently the City Council, Local Law 23 as

          5  primarily a means to enhance public safety on our

          6  City's sidewalk.  Public safety was -- there were

          7  some concerns about the safety of pedestrians and

          8  people on our sidewalks, as newsracks began to

          9  proliferate more and more on the City's sidewalks.

         10  I think that the efforts that we are undertaking

         11  today refocus some of the resources to enforce the

         12  public safety provisions and enhance public safety

         13  on sidewalks is a desirable goal, and we wish to get

         14  there as quickly as possible.

         15                 We certainly don't want to neglect

         16  the other aspects of Local Law 23, as they pertain

         17  to matters other than public sidewalks.  For

         18  example, matters concerning neighborhood

         19  beautification and aesthetics.  Those are important

         20  to us as well.  Nonetheless, we would like to

         21  continue the focus on public safety and we look

         22  forward to working with your departments, as well as

         23  with the public, to make our laws even better.

         24                 MR. DAMASHEK:  Thank you.  So do we.

         25  Again, the law is still in its relatively, relative
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          2  infancy, and, you know, it's, it's evolving.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  We've been joined

          4  by Council Member Helen Sears from Queens, as well.

          5  A question from Council Member Fidler.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Thank you

          7  Chairman Liu and I guess I, in the interest of full

          8  disclosure, I want to reiterate that I have

          9  volunteered for newspapers, some of which aren't,

         10  don't exist anymore, and have been employed as an

         11  attorney for newspapers.  So, I don't want anyone

         12  not to know where I'm coming from.

         13                 Sometimes we pass laws that need to

         14  be fixed.  I know there's an Intro. That I'm a co-

         15  sponsor of that is an anti graffiti measure that

         16  says that there should be a presumption that the

         17  person whose image appears on the sticker, is the

         18  person who is responsible for the sticker and can be

         19  fined.  So, some clown is out there sticking up a

         20  few stickers with my face on them, as I'm a co-

         21  sponsor of that bill, I guess to point out that not

         22  everything that we do has its intended consequence.

         23                 I am very appreciate of the fact that

         24  DOT recognizes that the Local Law isn't perfect.  It

         25  has been taken in places that I don't think anyone

                                                            18

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  ever intended.  In places that, in fact, in my view,

          3  jeopardize the existence of particularly our smaller

          4  newspapers.  So, in that regard, I want to ask you a

          5  couple of questions about some of the things you

          6  testified to.  You indicated that there needs to be

          7  a mechanism to distinguish between those who

          8  inaccurately and accurately represent their efforts

          9  under the bill, their self certifications.  Isn't

         10  it, in fact, the case that if someone were to file a

         11  false certification, that they would be filing a

         12  false instrument under the Penal Law?

         13                 MR. DAMASHEK:  That may well be, but

         14  my experience with filing false certifications in

         15  various investigations that we've referred, for the

         16  example, the DOI, and then DOI refers it to the

         17  district attorney, is that the district attorney,

         18  the local district attorneys, for the most part,

         19  unless it's something extremely egregious, does not

         20  choose to prosecute those types of filings.  So

         21  that, as Counsel for the agency, I would never

         22  recommend that to be the sole enforcement remedy for

         23  something like an inaccurate certification.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So then,

         25  while it might be a more severe consequence than the
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          2  financial penalty, you don't think it would be

          3  effectively utilized, is that what you're saying?

          4                 MR. DAMASHEK:  I think it's an, it's

          5  an enforcement remedy that's certainly available,

          6  and we would, we'll probably try to avail ourselves

          7  of it, but my past experience has been that, again,

          8  the district attorneys don't usually follow --

          9  don't, because of their caseload, have the ability

         10  to follow- up effectively.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And there is,

         12  you made the comment about service provisions about,

         13  regarding photos, and you point out that, you don't

         14  want to do that because the Secretary of State is

         15  the one that serves the Notices of Violation, and,

         16  you know, therefore, you can't be certain that the

         17  photos will be served.  Aren't you relying on the

         18  Secretary of State to serve the Notice itself

         19  anyway, so, I mean, what's the difference?

         20                 MR. DAMASHEK:  We are and, but that's

         21  something the Secretary of State has been doing for

         22  many, many years, and the issue of basically asking

         23  the Secretary of State to put additional information

         24  or documents or photos in with their services is

         25  something that makes us a bit queasy.  It's the
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          2  issue of, I guess, chain of custody, and it, to

          3  require that would impose something that I don't

          4  think we have a lot, a great deal of comfort that it

          5  will actually be carried out very effectively.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: (Not using

          7  microphone.) Violation that is documentary evidence?

          8                 MR. DAMASHEK:  I'm not in a position

          9  to answer that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Okay, fair

         11  enough.

         12                 I'm actually somewhat surprised to

         13  see that DOT would like an annual certification as

         14  opposed to a quarterly certification, is there --

         15                 MR. DAMASHEK: Council Member, part of

         16  that is because, you know, we've experienced a great

         17  deal of non-compliance, and we're actually looking,

         18  it's so important to us, that we're willing to

         19  basically loosen, you know, the requirement.  So,

         20  with the hope that, with less burden on the owners,

         21  that we get better compliance.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I think

         23  perhaps as well that as this law is enforced in a

         24  less draconian way, I think your compliance may

         25  improve as well.  I think people have been in the
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          2  business of running around, trying to answer

          3  violations and pay fines, that may be part of the

          4  problem.

          5                 As far as your desire to have a more

          6  workable definition of an abandoned newsrack, so

          7  that we could remove the abandoned newsracks more

          8  promptly, and I'd like to know what you would

          9  suggest as a better definition for abandoned

         10  newsracks.

         11                 MR. DAMASHEK:  Well, right now, the

         12  current law says that you could remove an abandoned

         13  newsrack if it's missing any of its essential

         14  identifying information, which we actually think is

         15  a bit impractical.  We would not like to remove

         16  racks if there is, for example, a phone number that

         17  might be missing, so that we would like to see a

         18  match between, again, the enforcement of the

         19  notification, the registration requirement, with the

         20  abandonment provision, so that a rack that's missing

         21  essential identifying information on the rack, and

         22  also is not in the notification or the registration,

         23  would be one that we would then choose to remove

         24  for, as abandoned, deem it abandoned.  That's a more

         25  practical approach.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I just want

          3  to say that as one of the co- sponsors of this bill,

          4  I look forward to working out some of these issues

          5  with DOT, so that we could pass something that will

          6  have effect and will protect the public's safety.

          7  Thank you.

          8                 MR. DAMASHEK:  Thank you, so do we.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you gentlemen

         10  for being with us today.  Although we haven't heard

         11  from the Deputy Director of the ECB, I know that at

         12  our prior hearing last December, there were a number

         13  of questions concerning the adjudication process at

         14  the Environmental Control Board.  There are some

         15  issues there that, while we don't need to get into

         16  the nitty gritty of that in this hearing, because we

         17  do have a large number of people to hear from, those

         18  are some issues that we hope to work with the

         19  Department of Transportation, as well as the

         20  Environmental Control Board in ironing out.

         21                 Once again, we, I just want to

         22  reiterate that our focus is first and foremost, to

         23  keep the public sidewalks safe for pedestrians and

         24  people who use the sidewalks.  With regard to

         25  newsracks, whatever we can do to keep people safe on
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          2  the sidewalks, we certainly want to do.  With regard

          3  to graffiti and clean- up and maintenance of

          4  newsracks, those we consider just as important, but

          5  we don't want to place onerous requirements on the

          6  owners of these newsracks, particularly the small

          7  ones, when it comes to jeopardizing their ability to

          8  distribute the information that they publish.  Thank

          9  you very much.

         10                 We have a number of people who are

         11  testifying today, and so I will be calling people up

         12  in groups of three's or four's to form panels.  I'd

         13  like to invite the first panel to join us at the

         14  witness table, comprising of representatives of

         15  various newspapers.  We have Victor Kovner, Susan

         16  Meisel, Peter Donohue and George Freeman.  If you

         17  would join us at the witness table.  Following this

         18  panel, we will hear from community activists in our

         19  City, Vanessa Gruen from the Municipal Arts Society,

         20  T. Gorman Reilly from CIVITAS, and Christine Donovan

         21  from the East Side Newsrack Safety Committee.   Ms.

         22  Meisel, have you been designated the lead- off?

         23  Please proceed.

         24                 MS. MEISEL:  Hello?  Better, okay.

         25  The Village Voice appreciates the efforts of the
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          2  Committee on Transportation of City Council Chairman

          3  Gifford Miller's Office in working with us and the

          4  other newsrack owners to address our concerns about

          5  the application and enforcement of Local Law 23.

          6                 As we testified in December, the

          7  enforcement of Local Law 23 by the Department of

          8  Transportation and ECB, has imposed unsustainable

          9  burdens on the exercise of our First Amendment

         10  right.  I just want to -- there's five primary

         11  concerns I'd like to go over today, and I was going

         12  to go over them briefly and then in a little more

         13  detail.

         14                 The first point is that The Village

         15  Voice supports the self- certification of cleaning

         16  and maintenance efforts.  We, we are very appreciate

         17  of that change in the law.  The second, was we

         18  support the imposition of a 14- day limit between

         19  the issuance of a Notice of Correction and a Notice

         20  of Violation. Thirdly, we request that the

         21  Commissioner work collaboratively with newsrack

         22  owners in the rule- making process, especially in

         23  connection with the certification provisions that

         24  are being, under discussion.  Fourthly, we request

         25  that the Administration to continue to pursue ECB
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          2  reform.  Lastly, we request amnesty for outstanding

          3  aesthetic violations and a mandate from the

          4  Administration that any amendments to the fine

          5  structure be applied by ECB as of their effective

          6  date to all outstanding violations.

          7                 The Voice has re- engineered its

          8  circulation procedures to comply with the law at

          9  significant expense of time and money.  Since Local

         10  Law 23 became effective in May 2003, The Voice has

         11  received 309 Notices of Correction in respect of 709

         12  different violations.  To date, we have received 171

         13  Notices of Violation.  We have had two ECB hearings.

         14                 The November hearing, the only one

         15  for which we have results, was the subject of 58

         16  violations, resulted in the dismissal of 63 percent

         17  of the violations heard.  19 of those were based on

         18  aesthetic criteria and 16 on siting criteria.  Of

         19  the 27 percent of the violations upheld, 14 were for

         20  alleged failure to have an ID sticker.  As a result

         21  of the above, The Voice has paid $5,250.00 in fines,

         22  and each hearing has required hours and hours of

         23  pre- hearing preparations, as well as an entirety of

         24  time for two colleagues and myself each hearing day.

         25                 The Voice appreciates the
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          2  Administration has recognized many of our concerns

          3  in Intro. 363, yet we believe it needs to be

          4  modified to achieve our common goal of preserving

          5  First Amendment rights in the context of sidewalk

          6  safety and an attractive City environment.

          7                 The Village Voice applauds the new

          8  self certification provision, for it will allow us

          9  to clean and maintain our boxes in a more systematic

         10  and deliberate manner than we have been able to do

         11  since the enactment of Local Law 23. Prior to Local

         12  Law 23, we regularly cleaned all newsracks on a

         13  rolling basis.  Once the law came into effect, The

         14  Voice was forced to become reactive, rather than

         15  proactive, in order to respond to the many Notices

         16  of Corrections we received.

         17                 Our cleaning efforts have been

         18  directed at responding to Notices of Correction for

         19  aesthetic violations, rather than being part of a

         20  scheduled cleaning and maintenance scheme.  Thus,

         21  boxes in neighborhoods, with fewer residents

         22  obsessed with removing newsracks from the streets,

         23  received less attention as DOT became in effect the

         24  agent of the a very few, but vocal complainants.

         25  Most troublesome, the ability to punish newsrack
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          2  owners so arbitrarily has invited complaints focused

          3  less on the appearance of the racks, but instead

          4  upon the content of the publication.

          5                 We believe the self- certification

          6  provision reflected in Intro. 363 is adequate on its

          7  face.  Self certification was proposed by the

          8  newsrack owners to ensure that best efforts would be

          9  made to ensure regular maintenance and cleaning of

         10  all newsracks, not just those on the blocks of the

         11  vociferous.  The Administration accepted the

         12  proposal as a reasonable alternative to the current

         13  ambiguous, impractical and unreasonable standards

         14  for determining aesthetic violations currently in

         15  the law.

         16                 To the extent the Administration has

         17  concerns about whether a certification is accurate,

         18  we are willing to provide DOT with a reasonable

         19  audit right of our books and records relating to

         20  cleaning and maintenance efforts.  There are also

         21  other available legal remedies.  Accordingly, we do

         22  not believe it is necessary or desirable to include

         23  a specific rack by rack review, which would, in

         24  effect, acquiesce the existing abuses of the system.

         25                 We believe that the law also needs to
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          2  be amended to define a time period between a DOT

          3  initial inspection, resulting in a Notice of

          4  Correction, and the second inspection that may

          5  result in a Notice of Violation.  In The Voice's

          6  experience, the range of days between inspections to

          7  date has been 16 to 71 days, with an average of 40.

          8  Accordingly, we are often penalized for promptly

          9  correcting within the seven- day period mandated by

         10  the current law.

         11                 We support a change in the law that

         12  limits the time period between inspections to 14

         13  days from the end of the correction period, with

         14  inspections occurring past this 14 day period,

         15  resulting in a new Notice of Correction, rather than

         16  a Notice of Violation.  On that point, I'd also

         17  would like to respond to the remarks of DOT

         18  concerning providing photographic evidence in

         19  connection with the Notice of Violation.  I find it

         20  very difficult to accept that position, because when

         21  we go to hearing on a, on a newsrack violation,

         22  which I've done many times, DOT presents, as its

         23  evidence, a photograph that was taken at the time of

         24  Notice of Violation.  If that's going to be the

         25  subject of a disputed hearing, I think it only fair,
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          2  and it's almost due process that we receive that

          3  photo in advance of the hearing.

          4                 Further, we respectfully correct,

          5  request that the Commissioner work with the newsrack

          6  owners in developing rules associated with the

          7  amended law.  In connection with our compliance

          8  offer, efforts, many of us have developed databases

          9  and tracking systems that could be adapted to

         10  tracking the cleaning and maintenance information

         11  the Commissioner seeks to verify, as well as

         12  generally monitoring compliance with the law as

         13  amended.  We'd appreciate an opportunity to work

         14  with the Commissioner throughout the rule- making

         15  process to address the Commissioner's concerns

         16  efficiently and effectively, avoiding unnecessary

         17  duplication of effort on both sides.

         18                 There are two additional concerns

         19  relating to Local Law 23, not addressed by the

         20  proposed amendment, ECB reform and amnesty.

         21  Beginning with the December hearings, we were told

         22  that while the Administration acknowledged that the

         23  Environmental Control Board is inefficient and in

         24  need of reform, we could not expect any changes in

         25  the ECB process in the immediate future.
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          2  Accordingly, we agreed to focus our efforts on Local

          3  Law 23 specifically.  It is a fact, however, that

          4  many of the problems associated with compliance with

          5  Local Law 23 are related to ECB process and

          6  procedure and have not changed a bit since the law

          7  came into effect.  There remains a seriously lack of

          8  coordination between DOT and ECB.

          9                 That ECB does not maintain electronic

         10  records as, is a cause of great delay and

         11  inefficiency.  Newsrack owners must bring multiple

         12  copies of all summonses to ECB, the issuing agency,

         13  because ECB does not maintain readily available

         14  records itself.  The ECB Administrative Law Judges

         15  often demonstrate emotions ranging from impatience

         16  to hostility from the volume of cases before them.

         17  Based upon The Voice's experience, no effort has

         18  been made to tailor any of the ECB policies and

         19  procedures to newsrack enforcement.  For example,

         20  there are no established guidelines for appealing

         21  newsrack decisions.  The Voice has yet to receive a

         22  response to an appeal letter submitted four months

         23  ago, in February.

         24                 Finally, we ask for amnesty for

         25  outstanding aesthetic violations.  The Voice
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          2  currently has 47 aesthetic violations outstanding,

          3  and we have reason to believe that there are a total

          4  of nearly 1,000 aesthetic violations overall

          5  currently pending.  If it is the policy of the

          6  Administration to eliminate this category of

          7  violations from the law, then it is inconsistent to

          8  hold hearings based on the old law once the new law

          9  becomes effective.

         10                 In addition, we ask that the reduced

         11  fine schedule to be enacted as part of this

         12  amendment, be applied retroactively to any pending

         13  violations as of the date of the amendment's

         14  effectiveness.  We have been told by ECB

         15  Administrative Law Judges that unless there is a

         16  clear mandate on both these points, that

         17  notwithstanding amendments to the law, it is ECB

         18  established practice to apply the law as it was in

         19  effect at the time of the violation.  We thank you

         20  again for your time and consideration.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  We

         22  have, I just want to reiterate, we have a large

         23  number of people wishing to testify today, and I do

         24  want to hear from everybody.  So, at this point, I

         25  ask everyone to abide by a three minute time limit,
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          2  if at all possible, and if it's not possible, I'll

          3  let you know when the three minutes is up.

          4                 MR. FREEMAN:  I'll be brief Chairman

          5  Liu.  Thanks for having us here.  I'm George

          6  Freeman, the Assistant General Counsel of the New

          7  York Times and have been involved in discussions

          8  with the City regarding newsracks back in 1984, when

          9  we agreed on a set of voluntary guidelines, which

         10  served us well for almost 20 years.  I'm concerned

         11  about the possibility of some new proposals to the

         12  understanding I thought we had worked out with the

         13  Council and the Administration.

         14                 When I address the aesthetic issues

         15  here, I believe we are in agreement that on location

         16  issues, I believe we're in agreement on location

         17  issues, and I believe, also, we are in agreement

         18  that the situation on the streets involving

         19  locations, and indeed involving cleanliness, has

         20  improved through the last year or so.

         21                 Most important, any changes to the

         22  self certification of cleanliness, I believe

         23  undercuts the mutual professed goals of the City and

         24  the publishers.  Self certification is a way all of

         25  us, including the City, would not have to spend
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          2  time, energy and money on adjudicating the

          3  cleanliness of newsracks, probably an

          4  unconstitutional inquiry in the first place, given

          5  the necessarily vague standards involved in making

          6  judgments about markings and dirt.  Any new proposal

          7  which returns that through the back door, by

          8  conditioning the certification on the City's

          9  judgments about whether certain boxes are clean

         10  enough or not, is simply unacceptable to The Times

         11  and the other publishers, and puts in jeopardy the

         12  time and effort we had spent in all the discussions

         13  with Council Leaders and others over the past few

         14  months.

         15                 The goal ought to be getting the

         16  newspapers to comply, which forcing them to show

         17  certifications, and, if necessary, back- up

         18  documents would, and not getting involved in

         19  wasteful and petty, not to say unconstitutional,

         20  litigation about how dirty is too dirty, and whether

         21  one mark of graffiti existed before or after a

         22  specified date.  Indeed, whatever one's view of the

         23  accuracy or the political biases of the media, the

         24  notion that an affidavit from the City's leading

         25  publishers attesting that cleaning has been done is
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          2  somehow inefficient, is abhorrent. In our system,

          3  the media has been given responsibilities far more

          4  significant that these, and to belabor what sort of

          5  proof should be required to verify an already sworn

          6  statement, seems patently inappropriate.

          7                 Finally, I'd reiterate the request of

          8  my colleagues, that since it is clear to all that

          9  this regime has not worked over the past year, an

         10  amnesty be imposed for all pending prior proceedings

         11  and fines.  Even at the last, over the last three

         12  weeks, after having been told by many in City

         13  Government that Notices of Correction for graffiti

         14  and dirt would no longer be filed, we at The Times

         15  have gotten some dozen Notices, which included just

         16  that offense.

         17                 While we certainly intend to respond

         18  and clean those newsracks, indeed, that work has

         19  already been done, the notion of having judicial

         20  enforcement hearings in the comings weeks, on a

         21  matter I thought we all agreed was unworkable, such

         22  as how much dirt is too much, and on whether the

         23  markings on the newsracks at the time of the Notice

         24  were the same or different markings than the

         25  markings on the newsracks many weeks or months
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          2  later, is simply misplaced.  Certainly, both the

          3  City and the newspaper should be spending their

          4  resources in a more productive manner, and so an

          5  amnesty would be both appropriate and beneficial for

          6  all.

          7                 Finally, I just make a comment on

          8  Council Member Fidler's comments earlier about

          9  photographic evidence.  Mr. Damashek said that he

         10  was queasy about the notion of the Secretary of

         11  State mailing photographs.  That seems to me to be

         12  thoroughly doable, and personally, I am much more

         13  queasy at the prospect of spending hours, if not

         14  days, at ECB waiting for hearings on these matters

         15  that I think could be avoided by the submission of

         16  just that photographic evidence.  I believe -- in

         17  conclusion, I believe the Council and the Mayor's

         18  Office, and even to a more limited degree, DOT, had

         19  agreed to our proposed suggestions a few weeks ago,

         20  and hope any rumors or vibrations of any

         21  backpedaling will not undermine all the good

         22  progress we've made.  Thank you for your

         23  consideration.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Mr.

         25  Freeman.
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          2                 MR. DONOHUE:  Good afternoon.  I'm

          3  Pete Donohue, I'm General Manager for Circulation

          4  for USA Today in the New York area.  I'd like to

          5  thank Chairman Liu for the opportunity to testify

          6  today regarding proposed amendments to Local law 23.

          7                 USA Today joins the other New York

          8  City newspapers and newsrack owners in advocating

          9  that the City Council amend the newsrack law to,

         10  among other things, correct certain deficiencies,

         11  define more objective criteria in measuring

         12  compliance with aesthetic standards, and provide for

         13  more even handed enforcement.  As stated in its

         14  preamble, the overarching purpose of the newsrack

         15  law is the safety of pedestrians and others using

         16  New York City sidewalks.  The law provides:  The

         17  Council finds that the unregulated placement and

         18  maintenance of newsracks on the City's sidewalks

         19  presents an inconvenience and danger to the safety

         20  and welfare of persons using such sidewalks,

         21  including pedestrians, persons entering and leaving

         22  vehicles and buildings, and persons performing

         23  essential utility, traffic control and emergency

         24  services.

         25                 In balancing the various interests
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          2  affected by the newsrack law, the City Council noted

          3  that: The dissemination of newspapers and other

          4  written matter is in the public interest, any

          5  government action with respect to such dissemination

          6  must be consistent with the protection accorded to a

          7  free press by the First Amendment of the United

          8  States Constitution.  Therefore, both the law and

          9  the regulations promulgated under the law may impose

         10  on newsracks only reasonable restrictions governing

         11  the time, place and manner of expression.

         12                 After the Council enacted the

         13  newsrack law, DOT promulgated regulations that the

         14  newsrack owners respectfully submit far exceeded the

         15  authority delegated by the statute.  In addition,

         16  DOT has proceeded to enforce the law and the too

         17  broad regulations in an inconsistent and unfair

         18  manner.  After several months of DOT enforcement of

         19  the newsrack law, certain flaws in the law were

         20  identified and it is now readily acknowledged that

         21  they should be corrected.  At the invitation of this

         22  Committee, the newsrack owners have submitted

         23  proposed amendments to the newsrack law, focusing on

         24  remedying these deficiencies.

         25                 The newspapers and newsrack owners
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          2  have worked diligently with the Council and the

          3  Administration during the past several months to

          4  craft workable and effective amendments to the

          5  newsrack law.  USA Today proposes that the Committee

          6  amend the law, as proposed by the newsrack owners,

          7  in an effort to resolve the myriad of enforcement

          8  problems encountered during the past several months.

          9                 At the minimum, the following

         10  proposed amendment should be considered:  The

         11  newsrack law should be amended to require newsrack

         12  owners to certify that they have made the best

         13  efforts to clean or re- paint their racks every four

         14  months, or at the least, three times a year.  Such

         15  provisions impose a duty on newsrack owners to clean

         16  their racks and is sufficient to advance the City's

         17  Council objective that all newsracks be maintained

         18  properly.  At the same time, the provision is devoid

         19  of vague aesthetic standards that plague the current

         20  law, and instead, provide objective criteria that

         21  can be enforced in a more even handed manner.

         22                 The newsrack law should also be

         23  amended to require DOT to provide photographic

         24  evidence of alleged violations when issuing both the

         25  Notice of Correction, and its subsequent Notice of
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          2  Violation.  The process should be as follows:  The

          3  DOT shall submit one photograph with the Notice of

          4  Correction, the first step in issuing a fine for

          5  violation of the statute --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Mr. Donohue, I

          7  apologize, it's --

          8                 MR. DONOHUE: I'll conclude.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  -- Beyond three

         10  minutes and yet, you're not even halfway through

         11  your written  --

         12                 MR. DONOHUE: I'll conclude, Chairman.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, we have it right

         14  here, in front of us.

         15                 MR. DONOHUE:  Okay.  Thank you for

         16  the opportunity to testify.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Sure, do you want

         18  to wrap up with a --

         19                 MR. DONOHUE:  -- I'll just wrap up by

         20  saying USA Today and the other newsrack owners take

         21  seriously their obligation to comply with the

         22  newsrack law and to keep the sidewalks of New York

         23  City safe for pedestrians.  We submit that this

         24  Committee should adopt the amendment proposed by the

         25  New York City newspapers and newsrack owners.  Thank
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          2  you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you very much

          4  for your understanding.

          5                 MR. KOVNER:  Just very briefly, Mr.

          6  Chairman, my name is Victor Kovner, I'm from the

          7  firm of Davis, Wright, Tremaine, and I've been

          8  working with a coalition of newspaper publishers, in

          9  addition to USA Today and The New York Times and The

         10  Village Voice, who are here and have been heard.

         11  They include the New York Daily News, the New York

         12  Post, Tribune, which publishes Newsday and AM, and

         13  I'll speak for just a moment, hopefully, within the

         14  three minutes.

         15                 They reflect, they agree with what

         16  has been said. The first point I'd like to make is

         17  the industry has spent hundreds of thousands of

         18  dollars to comply with Local Law 23. They engage

         19  vendors, hire their own people to clean, maintain,

         20  place, keep their newsracks in compliance with the

         21  law.  That should be clear.  No one is proposing any

         22  changes in the placement provisions, any of the

         23  public safety provisions.  We are addressing

         24  principally, what are so- called aesthetic

         25  provisions, cleanliness, which are so subjective,
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          2  has been pointed out.

          3                 I thought that General Counsel

          4  Damashek's comments were encouraging, but what was

          5  most dramatic was his statement that in one year,

          6  there have been -- they've received 2,100

          7  complaints, issued 4,300 Notices of Correction, over

          8  3,400 violations, an extraordinary use of City's

          9  resources, we submit an unwise use.  Over half of

         10  those violations are addressed to the so- called

         11  cleanliness, graffiti, aesthetic violations.  They

         12  are -- it's simply a system that doesn't work and

         13  has been subject to abuse, as Ms. Meisel points out.

         14    Indeed, we get less cleanliness because people are

         15  in the position of responding to specific complaints

         16  from specific -- vocal objectors.

         17                 With self- certification, there will,

         18  you will, which can be audited and should be

         19  audited, the City will be assured that newspaper

         20  publishers who register with the City as to the

         21  placement of the racks are going to clean them in a

         22  regular, orderly basis, and we'll have a system that

         23  I think works for everyone.  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you very much

         25  and thank you for completing your comments within
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          2  the three minute time period.  I do concur, I'm very

          3  happy to hear that we are generally in broad

          4  agreement on the provisions pertaining the placement

          5  of these newsracks on City sidewalks.  That is the

          6  issue of public safety on our sidewalks.

          7                 There is more disagreement within

          8  this room about the so- called aesthetic provisions

          9  of the newsrack law, and we certainly want to work

         10  together with everybody here to address those

         11  concerns.  This Committee certainly wants to see a

         12  more attractive City streetscape, there's no

         13  question about that.  On the other hand, we want to

         14  make sure that the legislation is promulgated in a

         15  way that is easy to comply with and does not place

         16  an onerous requirement on the publishers in their

         17  ability to disseminate their publications.

         18                 Ms. Meisel, you, in your comments,

         19  mentioned the potential or actually, I think you,

         20  the way you phrased it, you seem to believe that it

         21  has already happened, where people are submitting

         22  complaints about newsracks to target certain

         23  publications whose content they don't agree with.

         24  Do you have any kind of evidence that that is

         25  actually happening? Because that would be a serious,
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          2  serious concern on our part.

          3                 MS. MEISEL:  You know, I don't have,

          4  I don't have statistics.  I just have, you know, I

          5  don't have anything specific to provide.  I just

          6  have a sense, you know, I could see my own

          7  publication, whose views may not be, you know,

          8  accepted by a broad, you know, audience, seems to

          9  have worn the brand of a significant number of

         10  violations out of the total number that Mr. Damashek

         11  recited.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Another question I

         13  have with regard to your testimony is that the, some

         14  of our colleagues do receive a number of complaints

         15  about newsracks, both the placement, as well as the

         16  cleanliness and condition of the newsracks in their

         17  districts.  Council Member Moskowitz has been a

         18  champion in this area, trying to bring some kind of

         19  control to what she has termed the wild, wild west,

         20  here in New York for newsracks.

         21                 You mentioned that the complaints are

         22  generally generated by a relatively small number of

         23  complainants who are vocal, but yet small in number.

         24    Do you have -- is that just an assertion or do you

         25  actually have some kind of an analysis of whose
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          2  making the complaints? Because we feel that it's

          3  more than just a small number of people making the

          4  complaints, but we could be wrong.

          5                 MS. MEISEL:  Well, we seem to get an

          6  inordinate number of complaints from certain

          7  neighborhoods.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Would that be -- is

          9  there any correlation between the number of

         10  complaints and the number of newsracks actually

         11  present in those neighborhoods?

         12                 MS. MEISEL:  No.  I think, I mean, I

         13  can, I won't be, I won't be oblique about this.  I

         14  think, you know, I think, I will say that we get a

         15  significant number of complaints and attention from

         16  my very own neighborhood, the Upper East Side. You

         17  know, I spent an afternoon, together with our Head

         18  of Circulation, Bob Kazner (phonetic), whose here

         19  today, walking around with Gorman Reilly, to, you

         20  know, to, to, to, to witness, you know, the

         21  violations that his group had identified.  That

         22  doesn't happen anywhere else in Manhattan, except

         23  that neighborhood, and that filters through and

         24  translates into Notices of Correction, Notices of

         25  Violation.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  Thank

          3  you very much for joining us this afternoon.  Oh,

          4  I'm sorry, Council Member Recchia has a question.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Yea, I just

          6  want to talk to Mr. Freeman about the photographs.

          7  Wouldn't you agree that if you did have these

          8  photographs before, ahead of time, that could

          9  resolve a lot of these issues and it would be

         10  helpful to you?

         11                 MR. FREEMAN:  Yea, that would be my

         12  hope --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  -- And

         14  instead of being the burden to the DOT, it should be

         15  really a less of a burden.

         16                 MR. FREEMAN:  I think it would be a

         17  less of a burden to everyone, because I think it

         18  would shortcut proceedings, avoid adjournments,

         19  allow resolution more and more quickly.  So,

         20  obviously, having more, I mean, that's why there's

         21  discovery in the judicial process, in a sense, this

         22  would be that kind of substitute for that in this

         23  process.  And, the notion that the Secretary of

         24  State can't mail properly, doesn't have history in

         25  mailing, doesn't seem to me to be a problem worth
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          2  the potential gain in having photographic evidence

          3  available to everyone before a proceedings begins.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Would you

          5  see it to be helpful that when they, before they

          6  certify, that everybody gives an e- mail address,

          7  and they can e- mail the photos, and that would

          8  relieve the postage expense and help us out that

          9  way?

         10                 MR. FREEMAN:  I think that would be

         11  perfectly appropriate, yes sir.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Council

         14  Member Recchia.  Thank you very much for joining us

         15  this afternoon and we look forward to continuing

         16  working with you closely on putting together

         17  something that makes sense for the City of New York.

         18                 MR. FREEMAN:  Thank you Mr. Chairman.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  We've been joined

         20  by Council Members Gale Brewer and Eva Moskowitz,

         21  both of Manhattan.  At this time, I'd like to ask

         22  the next panel to join us, Vanessa Gruen from the

         23  Municipal Art Society, T. Gorman Reilly from

         24  CIVITAS, and Christine Donovan from the East Side

         25  Newsrack Safety Committee.  Following this panel of
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          2  community and civic organizations in the City, we

          3  will hear from some of the newspaper publishers, and

          4  that panel will consist of Tom Allen from Manhattan

          5  Media, John Sutter from Community Media, Troy

          6  Masters from Gay City News, and Frank Grecco from

          7  Key Art Publishing Corp., and one last one, Jeff

          8  Fligelman from Gotham Writers' Workshop.

          9                 MS. GRUEN:  Good afternoon.  My name

         10  is Vanessa Gruen.  I'm delighted to be here.  I'm

         11  from the Municipal Art Society.  I just want to

         12  start off with two photos that deal a lot with what

         13  was just testified to.  This is in the historic

         14  district of Greenwich Village, and as you can see,

         15  not only are the newsracks very dirty and not

         16  cleaned up, but they are just hovered around a fire

         17  hydrant, and the regulations do require, for safety

         18  reasons, that the newsracks be placed 15 feet from a

         19  fire hydrant.  I hardly think that that measures up

         20  in this picture.

         21                 Then, I want to show another

         22  photograph, and this one was recently taken, and

         23  this is the new newsrack box that we have on our

         24  streets now, it's the Metro News.  They don't have a

         25  door in front, which is required, by the way, in the
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          2  regulations, and you'll find that there's an

          3  enormous amount of litter that is contained within

          4  that box.

          5                 I'll do this one next, because this

          6  is later.  So, basically, the Municipal Art Society

          7  had originally testified, urging a much more

          8  stringent law, but reluctantly accepted a watered-

          9  down version that had been scrutinized and

         10  sanctioned by publishers and newsrack owners, who

         11  solemnly promised that they could live with this law

         12  and could comply with it.  As a matter of fact, they

         13  suggested that they should be allowed to self

         14  regulate themselves.  Now, the same people who had

         15  agreed to the law, are crying foul, as if they had

         16  expected not for it to be enforced.

         17                 Now, this is the last photograph I'm

         18  going to show you, and that illustrates the

         19  newsracks at my street corner. Every single one of

         20  these newsracks is in violation of Local Law 23.

         21  These newsracks have been at this corner, southwest

         22  corner of Seventh Avenue and 25th Street for over

         23  several months.  Each week, new publications are

         24  placed in these boxes, but no attempt is made to

         25  either clean them or move them five feet from the
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          2  corner building line.  Is this how the industry

          3  self- regulates itself?  Are the puny enforcement

          4  procedures that we now have to work with going to be

          5  watered- down with even more, more so that the type

          6  of flaunting of the law can proceed with little

          7  chance of enforcement?

          8                 We understand that small publishers

          9  are complaining verily that keeping the newsracks

         10  clean of graffiti and posted stickers is very

         11  expensive and is forcing them out of business.  Our

         12  response is, that this is the cost of using rent

         13  free space on the public sidewalks.  All other small

         14  business owners and homeowners are required by the

         15  City to keep their sidewalks clean and litter free.

         16  Failing to do so, they're issued summonses and are

         17  required to pay a fine.  I don't believe that

         18  because of the First Amendment rights of the Freedom

         19  of Speech, they are exempt from standard City

         20  regulations.

         21                 Why is the City Council being asked

         22  to impair New York City residents' rights to safe

         23  and clean sidewalks?  Why is an industry allowed to

         24  continue to use our public sidewalks for their

         25  private use without regard to the rules that were
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          2  passed to assure the safety of the public?  Do we

          3  not have the right to have passable sidewalks that

          4  are free of litter- filled and graffiti- covered

          5  newsracks?  Rather than loosening the current

          6  regulations, maybe the City Council would serve the

          7  public better by tightening the regulations.  Maybe

          8  what the City Council should be proposing is to

          9  require the industry to have uniform boxes, made out

         10  of metal and all painted the same color, as other

         11  municipalities have done.  But, rather than asking

         12  for more, we ask only that the Council not tamper

         13  with the rights of the public, secured by the 2002

         14  law for the selfish benefit of a few. Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  Mr.

         16  Reilly.

         17                 MR. REILLY:  Push, okay, thank you.

         18  Good afternoon.  My name is Gorman Reilly.  I am

         19  speaking today in opposition to Intro. 363, on

         20  behalf of myself as a resident of the Upper East

         21  Side of Manhattan, and as the representative of

         22  CIVITAS, a 2000 member community organization,

         23  concerned with issues relating to zoning,

         24  neighborhood life and the streetscape insofar as

         25  they impact the Upper East Side of Manhattan and
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          2  East Harlem.  There is an inordinate concentration

          3  of newsracks in the Upper East Side of Manhattan,

          4  and the impact has been decidedly negative.

          5                 We believe that passage of Intro. 363

          6  or any measure similar to it will be a major setback

          7  to the great work that was started by this Committee

          8  and by the City Council, when it enacted Local Law

          9  23 of 2000.

         10                 The aim of the pending bill is to gut

         11  the existing newsrack law in two ways.  The first,

         12  is to relieve newsrack owners of any meaningful

         13  obligation to keep their boxes clean and in good

         14  repair.  The second is to hobble the woefully

         15  understaffed Department of Transportation with

         16  burdensome enforcement procedures.

         17                 Intro. 363 takes the issue of clean

         18  appearances head- on, I will concede that.  It would

         19  strike the following language from the current

         20  newsrack law, "each newsrack shall be maintained in

         21  a clean and neat condition and shall be kept in good

         22  repair."  In its place, the bill would introduce a

         23  laughable certification procedure, whereby each

         24  newsrack owner is called upon to certify to DOT

         25  three times a year only, that it has used "best
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          2  efforts" to clean its newsracks of graffiti,

          3  unauthorized writings and other markings, at least

          4  once in the previous four months.  There is no

          5  obligation to clean, by the way, just to submit a

          6  certification.  This curious device obviously

          7  rewards the newsrack owner who is willing to play

          8  fast and loose with the truth.

          9                 Who is to be the judge of best

         10  efforts?  It's the newsrack owner, and we heard that

         11  confirmed by the New York Times representatives.

         12  There should be no second guessing.  For many, it

         13  will mean throwing a bucket of water over the few

         14  newsracks that they deem in need of it.  What this

         15  amounts to is voluntary enforcement by a class, with

         16  but few exemptions, that has already demonstrated

         17  its contempt for the existing law.

         18                 You need but to go out on the

         19  streets, or to look at the photographs that Miss

         20  Vanessa Gruen has shown you, to understand that this

         21  newsrack law, which has been in effect for well over

         22  a year, does not have the vast majority of newsracks

         23  in compliance.  They are filthy, they are streaked

         24  with graffiti put on months and years ago.  In some

         25  cases, the boxes haven't been filled for the longest
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          2  time and are used as garbage cans.  In far too many

          3  cases, newsracks are still sitting in bus stops,

          4  still, next to fire hydrants and within five feet of

          5  the corner area. Notices of Correction and Notices

          6  of Violation have been issued in large numbers by

          7  DOT, it is true.  But, precisely because these

          8  newsracks are filthy and placed where they don't

          9  belong --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  -- Mr. Gorman,

         11  could I ask you to wrap up your comments, we will

         12  have some questions for you as well.

         13                 MR. REILLY:  Alright.  Thank you.

         14  You may -- one final comment, you may have noticed

         15  that under Intro. 363, there would be no need to

         16  certify that dirt has been cleaned from these boxes.

         17    Some of the worst offenses on our street are just

         18  boxes that are filthy.  Thank you.  I certainly will

         19  be happy to entertain questions later.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you very

         21  much.  Ms. Donovan.

         22                 MS. DONOVAN:  Good afternoon Chairman

         23  Liu and fellow Committee Members.  My name's

         24  Christine Donovan and I am Co- Chai r of the East

         25  Side Newsrack Safety Committee.  Two years ago, I
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          2  testified on behalf of the initiative and bill to

          3  regulate newsracks, that became Local Law 23.  I

          4  urge you to keep all provisions of this law in

          5  force, and actually provide for stricter enforcement

          6  and not to dilute it with proposed amendment Intro.

          7  363.

          8                 Local Law 23, as we learned from the

          9  DOT, was to be complaint- driven, and thousands of

         10  complaints have been submitted to the DOT over the

         11  past 13 months, in regulation time, and we also have

         12  worked, various of us, have worked for voluntary

         13  compliance.  Taking special care, focus for

         14  individual publications and walking around and

         15  showing them where things were out of compliance.

         16  Some cases, the initial contact was very receptive,

         17  but we learned that the promises to remove boxes,

         18  clean them up, or put them in correct locations,

         19  just didn't seem to happen.

         20                 I urge that Local Law 23 be upheld

         21  firmly to enforce the placement and maintenance

         22  provisions, so as to hold publishers and their

         23  distributors accountable for each violation. If

         24  publishers and distributors cannot assure, cannot

         25  assure legal placement of all their boxes installed,

                                                            55

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  rent- free, on public sidewalks, I suggest removal

          3  of all boxes that violate the law. We citizens have

          4  waited patiently for over a year to see newsrack

          5  owners stop clogging and defiling our sidewalks.

          6  What we have seen, instead, is an arrogant refusal

          7  to acknowledge, much less comply, with the law.

          8                 With several new publications adding

          9  their boxes to the glut in the past year, the eight

         10  foot pedestrian passage aspect has become an even

         11  more serious hazard on many of our streets.  Our

         12  sidewalks simply cannot accommodate the illegally

         13  placed newsracks with more and more babies in

         14  strollers and their caretakers, youngsters on roller

         15  blades, and oldsters in wheelchairs with caretakers.

         16                 I urge the Transportation Committee

         17  to equip DOT with the financial resources to train

         18  and dispatch inspectors, purchase communications

         19  equipment with which to report violations and

         20  corrections in the field, and communicate with

         21  publishers in a much more timely manner.  I also

         22  urge the Transportation Committee to address the

         23  issues, some of which have been brought up, to

         24  address the issues of how the ECB process might be

         25  streamlined and how channels of communications,
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          2  communications between the DOT and ECB might be

          3  improved.

          4                 Intro. 363 is not a realistic way to

          5  deal with a newsrack problem, nor is it an

          6  acceptable solution to all the New Yorkers who urged

          7  the City Council to pass Local Law 23.  Thank you

          8  very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  We have

         10  questions from Council Member Fidler.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Ms. Gruen,

         12  you held up a few photos.  The issue in the first

         13  photo of 15 boxes around a fire hydrant, those are

         14  all illegally placed boxes, is that correct?

         15                 MS. GRUEN:  Yes, that's true.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And does

         17  Intro. 363 change one iota of the law as it relates

         18  to placement of boxes?

         19                 MS. GRUEN:  I hope not, I mean, but I

         20   --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- But the

         22  answer is no. So, I just want to make sure that the

         23  issue for everyone here is clear, that in terms of

         24  placement of boxes and public safety, Intro. 363

         25  does, makes no change in the law whatsoever.  As
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          2  would be the case with your second photo about the

          3  Metro News not having doors on their boxes, as is

          4  currently prescribed.  Intro. 363 doesn't affect

          5  that either, does it?

          6                 MS. GRUEN:  I, I, I don't know.  I

          7  can't answer that  --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- Well --

          9                 MS. GRUEN:  -- All I know is, but --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- The answer

         11  is no, because all Intro. 363 affects is the

         12  aesthetic issue and enforcement.  Now, one of you, I

         13  mean, perhaps, as Mr. Reilly talked about, you know,

         14  summonsing homeowners for keeping their property

         15  clean.  I believe this Council just passed, and

         16  probably will shortly override the Mayor's veto, of

         17  a bill that says that homeowners don't need to keep

         18  their -- don't need to be subject to violation 24/7

         19  for litter than may accrue on their sidewalk, and I

         20  think Intro. 363, Mr. Reilly, is rather akin to

         21  that, in suggesting that newspaper publishers don't

         22  become the graffiti police.  Perhaps -- don't you

         23  think that they might be better equip to comply with

         24  the public safety provisions of the law if they

         25  weren't busy chasing violations for every person who
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          2  chose to mark their box?

          3                 MR. REILLY:  The answer, my answer,

          4  may not be your answer Council Member Fidler, is

          5  that the requirements of self- certification, which

          6  incorporates best efforts and allows no one to

          7  double- check those best efforts is really

          8  meaningless, and it's going to promote and allow

          9  continued conditions of really dirt and filth.

         10                 The real problem for the newsrack

         11  owners is this, that their attitude towards the

         12  boxes is that this is an inexpensive way of

         13  distributing their publication.  I wish that it

         14  were, but it isn't.  It takes constant care, if

         15  you're going to be respectful of the provisions of

         16  the law and respectful of the people who live in

         17  those neighborhoods day after day after day.

         18                 It takes a force and we have found,

         19  in our experience, that when we bring -- and we've

         20  made great efforts to give them spreadsheets to show

         21  exactly where these newsracks are that are just next

         22  to fire hydrants.  Nobody goes out because they are

         23  extremely reactive, they've always been reactive,

         24  they'll continue to be reactive.

         25                 When I went on this walk with Ms.
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          2  Meisel, at my request, I asked her if she'd come

          3  out.  I asked if the distribution -- so we could

          4  show them what's going on out there. I showed them

          5  seven or eight boxes, that was three weeks ago, that

          6  were in fire hydrants, next to, in bus stops, next

          7  to fire hydrants, and the like.  Only one of them

          8  has been removed.

          9                 In fact, on the first day of this

         10  hearing, it was June, scheduled originally about ten

         11  days ago, since it didn't go forward, I took the

         12  opportunity to do another walk and I sent them a

         13  list, and I said, here they are, let's show what

         14  your best efforts are.  Those best efforts are that

         15  not one of those additional boxes has been removed

         16  from the violated position, so I'm not --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- Mr. Reilly

         18   --

         19                 MR. REILLY:  -- I'm not sanguined --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- Mr.

         21  Reilly, I think we all would agree that the

         22  enforcement of a fail law ought to be complete.  I

         23  think part of the problem that -- well, there are

         24  two problems.

         25                 First of all, I think that an

                                                            60

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  adversarial relationship has developed between those

          3  who support this bill and the publishers, and it's

          4   -- I'm sure you can understand that when you've

          5  been subjected $25,000.00 worth of fines, as some of

          6  them have, sometimes they might take it personally.

          7  Fair or not. But, it diverts resources for them in

          8  terms of the illegally placed boxes, which we all

          9  agree ought to be removed or placed properly, if

         10  they are running after every box that has graffiti

         11  on it.  My point to you sir would be, that we do not

         12  hold other industries to that standard in this City,

         13  nor is it fair to do so to publishers.

         14                 In terms of rights and benefits, and

         15  you talk about the cheapest way to distribute their

         16  product, which is a free press, I would tell you

         17  that, you know, in my community, you know, I'm more

         18  upset by getting the circulars and the newspapers

         19  delivered to my door and left on my doorstep.  If

         20  I'm away for three days, it's an invitation to

         21  everyone in the world to know I'm not there.  Would

         22  you prefer that as an inexpensive way for people to

         23  distribute their newspaper?

         24                 MR. REILLY:  I'm not going to comment

         25  on what I prefer.  I prefer that when they just use

                                                            61

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2   --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- Why not?

          4                 MR. REILLY:  -- When they, I say if

          5  they use the newsracks, they should use it in such a

          6  way that the people who live in that neighborhood

          7  will not be offended by the way they do it.  This

          8  isn't treating an industry different, singling out

          9  the press.  The press are given the single

         10  distinction of being allowed to have these

         11  newsracks.  I can't put my -- if I make baked goods,

         12  I can't set up a box on the street to leave my baked

         13  goods there.  But, this is the free press.  So, we

         14  recognize that they have been given some solicitude

         15  and saying because you are such an organization,

         16  we're going to let you be there, but don't they have

         17  the right to maintain it and have it be acceptable

         18  to the neighborhood?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Well, we

         20  certainly have vendors on our streets for things

         21  that would, could not be sold unattended or

         22  distributed unattended.  So, I think that's a

         23  distinction without a difference.  But, I would ask

         24  you to respond to the analogy to the bill the

         25  Council has passed, that basically frees homeowners
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          2  from being responsible 24/7 for sweeping in front of

          3  their homes.  Do you think we made a mistake in

          4  passing that bill?  Do you think homeowners should

          5  be responsible all the time?  If you do agree with

          6  that bill, then why should newspaper publishers be

          7  held to a different standard for dirt and graffiti

          8  that they did not cause?

          9                 MR. REILLY:  Well, I'm not familiar

         10  with the particulars of that bill.  I live in a

         11  neighborhood that's predominated by apartment houses

         12  and the like.  Not to say that they're aren't

         13  townehouses, et cetera.  I can't really address

         14  them.  I don't really think that you're dealing with

         15  the same.  I don't know what -- you say 24/7, they

         16  apparently must have some obligation after a

         17  particular time, and I think there ought to be an

         18  obligation here and a seven day Notice of Correction

         19  is certainly ample grace to be given to newsrack

         20  owners.  I don't know of anybody, if I'm parking,

         21  illegally parked next to a fire hydrant, I get a

         22  ticket.  Nobody sends me a Notice of Correction.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Well, sir,

         24  that would be very akin to the placement provisions

         25  of the bill.  We're all in agreement on the
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          2  placement provisions of the bill and Intro. 363

          3  doesn't change that.  If you're parked illegally,

          4  you ought to be summonsed.  If a newsrack is

          5  someplace it should not be, under the law, it ought

          6  to be removed.  We're all in agreement with that.

          7  So, I just --

          8                 MS. GRUEN:  -- Well, but they're

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- Want to

         10  keep --

         11                 MS. GRUEN:  -- Not being removed --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- You know,

         13  well, perhaps because there's a problem with the

         14  law, as it has been interpreted and enforced.  I

         15  think DOT was here to testify, Ms. Gruen, to

         16  indicate that they are.  Given -- half of these

         17  violations have been given on aesthetics, and that

         18  they are asking that the self- certification be

         19  reduced even from what it is in the bill, which

         20  surprised me, because they want to be able to

         21  concentrate on enforcing a law in a way that it can

         22  be enforced.

         23                 We're all 100 percent in agreement on

         24  the illegally placed boxes and abandoned newsracks.

         25  I mean the abandoned newsracks should be gotten rid
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          2  of, you know, as quickly as possible.  But, you

          3  know, I guess where we have a fundamental difference

          4  is, is I believe that there is a First Amendment

          5  right involved here and that this particular

          6  industry is being in the effect of the law, as it

          7  stands now, is being taken to task and abused in a

          8  way that we wouldn't ask our homeowners to bear or

          9  other industries to bear and it's wrong.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Council

         11  Member Fidler. Comments from Council Member

         12  Moskowitz.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Those are

         14  fighting words and I have a slightly different

         15  interpretation, being the author of Local Law 23 and

         16  I just feel a need to -- don't applaud, because you

         17  don't know what my position is.

         18                 But, I am the author of Local Law 23

         19  and I think it's important to go back to the

         20  history, because as the advocates indicated, we

         21  spent hours upon hours upon hours discussing this,

         22  both with advocates and with the publishers. And, I

         23  just feel the need to mention that at those

         24  meetings, initially, constitutional arguments were

         25  raised then, and I sometimes think that lawyers
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          2  think that they're the only ones who understand the

          3  First Amendment.

          4                 In fact, what we were proposing to do

          5  was very respectful of the First Amendment.  It was

          6  not content discriminatory.  It didn't make a

          7  distinction between the magazines like Divorce

          8  Magazine and Learning Annex versus the New York

          9  Times or a local publication.  We navigated those

         10  issues very respectfully and carefully.  I have the

         11  distinction of not only do the publishers sometimes

         12  get upset when they get these $25,000.00 fines and

         13  so forth, but I was labeled the third most

         14  troublesome New Yorker by the New York Press because

         15  of my stance on newspaper boxes.  I beat Donald

         16  Trump, which I thought was pretty hard to do, in New

         17  York City.

         18                 You know, and so editorials were

         19  written that, you know, this concern with aesthetics

         20  was ridiculous.  You know, I have a very different

         21  view.  I think that while we have an obligation to

         22  protect publishers' First Amendment rights, we also

         23  need to ensure that we have good citizenry on the

         24  part of the publishers.

         25                 We had promises for over 20 years
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          2  that didn't happen.  I think now we've seen some

          3  improvements on their part. I also think that we

          4  learned something in the implementation of the law,

          5  that there were unintended consequences, there were

          6  unintended interpretations.  I think it's

          7  appropriate to go back and look at those technical

          8  details and make sure that we've gotten them right,

          9  so that we're not unfair and that the enforcement is

         10  realistic.  I know that the Chair of the Committee

         11  has worked very hard to do that and that Counsel to

         12  the Committee has worked  very, very hard to do that

         13  and we're still trying to work out those

         14  difficulties.

         15                 I want to say to the industry that,

         16  do not think that whatever ultimately gets passed,

         17  do not think that we will not come back to this

         18  issue and that you will be held to a very high

         19  standard.  The pictures that were brought before the

         20  Committee, I can testify to the reality of those,

         21  not that a photo needs any testimonials.  But, there

         22  isn't enforcement in the way that there should be,

         23  and I think this Council has shown itself to have

         24  muscle and to be rather aggressive in demanding

         25  compliance and I don't think you're there yet.  So,
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          2  I look forward to the details of this bill.

          3                 I do think it's appropriate to

          4  revisit the issue because there were three different

          5  categories and it was a little confusing.  It was

          6  the law itself, there's the regulations that were

          7  issued by DOT, and then there's the enforcement, and

          8  there were some confusion as to who exactly has to

          9  do what, and there was some, I think there were some

         10  arbitrariness in the enforcement of the law that

         11  this is trying to clarify.  But, we're not trying to

         12  take a step back from enforcing a level of civility

         13  on our streets.  Thank you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Council

         15  Member Moskowitz.  We have been long joined by

         16  Council Member Diana Reyna from Brooklyn.  Now, we

         17  have questions from Council Member Recchia.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Yes, I just

         19  have a question for you about the self-

         20  certification, why you'd be against that?

         21                 MR. REILLY:  May I answer that?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Yea.

         23                 MR. REILLY:  I'm against it because

         24  it doesn't require that it be clean.  It only

         25  requires that someone give a certification that it's
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          2  clean.  We heard from the Counsel of the Department

          3  of Transportation that those false, fraudulent

          4  certifications are rarely, if ever, prosecuted.  So,

          5  there's really down, no downside risk in filing

          6  something that may be a little close -- may not

          7  really -- it doesn't say that I've cleaned everyone,

          8  I just used by best efforts to do it.  I mean, I

          9  don't know what my best efforts is.  My best efforts

         10   --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  -- Well --

         12                 MR. REILLY:  -- May be quite a bit

         13  different from the New York Press --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  -- But if

         15  they're going to certify to clean it, okay? And make

         16  an attempt to clean it, okay? Listen, let's say, one

         17  day they clean it, they come back the next day, it

         18  gets dirty again, they get graffiti.  You know what?

         19  That's something that they really can't control.

         20  Alright? Then that becomes a police issue.  You see,

         21  there's more than one issue here.

         22                 But, more important is that the part

         23  that I'm having a problem with is this rule could be

         24  relieved with taking the photographs, alright? And

         25  it seems that that could resolve everybody's
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          2  problem.  They go out there, they correct it, they

          3  take a photograph, DOT, you know.  I don't

          4  understand why, you know, you're so against this --

          5                 MR. REILLY:  -- Well, I --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  -- And the

          7  self certification is a way, if somebody's going to

          8  sign an Affidavit, they could say that they correct

          9  it and made it better, that's a way to resolve all

         10  these issues.

         11                 MR. REILLY:  A, I don't know, A, I

         12  don't know whether it's an Affidavit, B, it really

         13  depends upon the veracity of the affiant, and C, it

         14  really is only that he's used, he or she has used

         15  her best efforts, as defined by that person.  What

         16  I'm saying is, you could just, in terms of we're

         17  talking about cleanliness, keeping it free of dirt

         18  or which isn't even in the statute, but keeping it

         19  free of markings or something.  Somebody could just

         20  run a sponge over it, ineffectively, I've used by my

         21  best efforts.  It's all good, but it's a substitute

         22  for a requirement that it be kept clean, and that's

         23  what we oppose.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Okay, thank

         25  you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Council

          3  Member Recchia.  I appreciate the photos that you

          4  brought today and with regard to the violations of

          5  placement with, in the first photo that you showed

          6  us, that's clearly a violation.  I don't think any

          7  of us disagree with those violations.

          8                 In fact, I do lend a lot of credence

          9  to the argument that by focusing resources more on

         10  the enforcement of illegally placed boxes, that we

         11  can make our public sidewalks safer for pedestrians.

         12    In fact, that was part of the testimony from the

         13  Department of Transportation.  Earlier, last

         14  December, when they testified, it was clear that the

         15  vast bulk of violations were being issued not on

         16  illegally placed boxes and on public safety issues,

         17  but rather on issues of aesthetics and graffiti.

         18  So, we are looking to use this as a way to make our

         19  sidewalks even safer for pedestrians.

         20                 I think with regard to the trash that

         21  you showed in one of your photos.  That's a very

         22  striking photo and I don't believe that any of the

         23  publishers would say anything to condone that kind

         24  of condition.  I do believe that it's, that is not

         25  the standard or that is not the typical condition

                                                            71

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  that you see of newsracks in Manhattan or elsewhere

          3  in the City --

          4                 MS. GRUEN:  --  Well, you see it a

          5  lot.  I mean, yes you do.  I mean, that's the

          6  problem is, that this is what you see and this is

          7  what we don't want to live with --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  -- And none of our,

          9  the legislation that we're trying to enact and the

         10  regulations that we're trying to entice the

         11  Department of Transportation to promulgate would

         12  address those kinds of conditions.  It's the areas

         13  where there is much more subjectivity in determining

         14  whether a box is dirty or is less than well

         15  maintained.  That becomes a problem, and we are

         16  trying to address the issue to make sure that the

         17  issuance of summonses do not unfairly target the

         18  publishers in a way that infringes upon their

         19  constitutional rights.  That is an unacceptable

         20  condition.  I don't think you will hear any

         21  publisher say that it's okay for a box to be that

         22  way.

         23                 MS. GRUEN:  Well, I hope so.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I'm sure of it.

         25  Thank you very much for joining us today.
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          2                 MS. GRUEN:  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Next, we'll hear

          4  from a panel of newspaper publishers.  We have Tom

          5  Allen from Manhattan Media, John Sutter from

          6  Community Media, Troy Masters from Gay City News,

          7  Frank Grecco, Key Art Publishing Corp., and Jeff

          8  Fligelman, Gotham Writers' Workshop.

          9                 Following this panel, I'd like to ask

         10  the next one to prepare to testify, comprising of

         11  people from the community, Ellen Goldstein from Time

         12  Square Alliance, Susan Gottridge from the 86th

         13  Street Merchants and Residents Association, Enid

         14  Klass from the Murray Hill Neighborhood Association

         15  and Rita Hirsch from the Sutton Area Community.

         16                 Thank you and I want to ask, please

         17  abide by the three minutes, if at all possible,

         18  because we still have a large number of people.  We

         19  want to hear from everybody today.

         20                 MR. ALLEN:  Good afternoon Mr.

         21  Chairman, Members of the Committee and Council

         22  Members and staff.  Thank you for proposing this

         23  long- awaited amendment to Local Law 23.  I believe

         24  it's a step in the right direction.  My name is Tom

         25  Allen and I'm the President and Chief Executive
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          2  Officer of Manhattan Media, which publishes four

          3  weekly newspapers, Our Town, The Westside Spirit,

          4  the Chelsea Clinton News, and The Westsider.  I'm a

          5  life long resident of New York City, now raising

          6  three children here and I'm as concerned about the

          7  safety of our streets as anyone here.

          8                 Our company dedicates significant

          9  resources, human and financial, to promoting the

         10  image of our newspapers, in an effort to build

         11  readership.  The last thing we would want is for our

         12  own property, namely our newsracks, from which we

         13  distribute our papers, to detract from our public

         14  image or to impede public safety.  Yet, despite our

         15  best efforts as good citizens, since the enforcement

         16  period for Local Law 23 began in April of 2003, more

         17  than 70 Notices of Violation have been issued

         18  against our newsracks, most of them for graffiti and

         19  dirt that we didn't put there, which totals

         20  potentially $35,000.00 in fines.  For a small

         21  publishing company like ours, this is potentially

         22  devastating.

         23                 The law's legislative declaration

         24  states that the Council intended to accommodate the

         25  City's safety and aesthetics interests and the First
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          2  Amendment rights of the newsrack owners, in a

          3  complimentary and mutually advantageous manner.

          4  Clearly, this did not happen.  The original law is

          5  overly broad and ripe for a legal challenge.

          6                 In my Upper West Side neighborhood,

          7  Federal mailboxes and Department of Transportation

          8  property, like light poles, are covered with dirt

          9  and graffiti.  Why is our own government throwing

         10  stones at newspaper publishers when the DOT itself

         11  and the Federal Government live in glass houses?

         12  Why have we been held to a higher standard than the

         13  City Government and Federal Government holds itself

         14  to?  And, why haven't the self appointed street

         15  activists, who are here today, directed their

         16  efforts at DOT property and the Federal mailboxes

         17  that I just mentioned?

         18                 This amendment goes most of the way

         19  toward fixing the damage that has been done by the

         20  original bill.  In light of the frailties and

         21  excesses of the original law and its flawed

         22  enforcement, Manhattan Media respectfully requests

         23  that the Council impose a moratorium on the issuance

         24  of Notices of Violation.

         25                 Furthermore, and perhaps more

                                                            75

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  importantly, because the original bill was flawed,

          3  as evidenced by the hearing today and the proposed

          4  amendments, we urge you to grant amnesty for all

          5  previously issued Notices of Violation.  It is the

          6  only fair thing to do and we urge the Council and

          7  the Administration to make this a priority to right

          8  a very grievance wrong that is committed on the

          9  newspaper industry.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  Mr.

         11  Sutter.

         12                 MR. SUTTER:  Hello.  Yes, my name is

         13  John Sutter. Thank you Mr. Chairman, Council

         14  Members.  I'm the publisher of The Villager

         15  newspaper, Downtown Express newspaper and Gay City

         16  newspapers.  I'm also a Downtown resident and a

         17  father of two.

         18                 I'm here to urge you to quickly enact

         19  the provisions in bill 363, along with the comments

         20  that my previous publishers have added to this.  It

         21  is not that I am here in opposition to the newsrack

         22  legislation.  In fact, we have spent thousands of

         23  dollars of my own newspapers to bring our boxes into

         24  compliance.  We fully respect the fact that there

         25  are important safety considerations, and we will
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          2  continue to work to bring all of our boxes into

          3  compliance.  And, if they're not in compliance, we

          4  will pay fines.

          5                 What I am opposed to is the chilling

          6  effect of the DOT's violations on small

          7  publications, such as mine.  If someone slaps a

          8  sticker or writes some graffiti on our boxes, we are

          9  now getting $500.00 fines.  They have some

         10  discretion in there to make it less, but we have

         11  never received a fine less than $500.00.  I can't

         12  tell you how it feels to walk into a small

         13  newspaper, and all of a sudden seeing in your in-

         14  box, these pink tickets for $500.00.  This isn't the

         15  most robust industry and it has an extraordinarily

         16  chilling effect.  We actually fear that we may not

         17  be able to continue to distribute our newspapers.

         18                 Some people have said that Intro. 363

         19  will be gutting the existing newspaper law.  Well, I

         20  don't believe that's the case and I can tell you how

         21  this newspaper, we have three newspapers, will

         22  respond to that.  First of all, we're going to clean

         23  our boxes on a proactive, in a proactive fashion.

         24  We're hiring a company that's going to go out and

         25  clean them.
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          2                 Right now, to be perfectly honest,

          3  we're spending so much time chasing these violations

          4  and trying to follow them through the court system,

          5  that we're only dealing with them once we're being

          6  fined.  Now, we're going to set up a proactive

          7  system to clean boxes, and in fact, our newspaper

          8  boxes will be cleaner than they are under the pre-

          9  existing law.  We also support a one year compliance

         10  system, rather than every three months, as the DOT

         11  requested.

         12                 I would also urge the Committee to

         13  immediately enact an amnesty program for all of the

         14  pending cleanliness violations.  We admit that this

         15  is a law that is in progress, that many of its

         16  enforcement mechanisms have been deeply flawed, and

         17  to be fining us $500.00 a pop for someone else's

         18  damaging our boxes, we think is extraordinarily

         19  heavy- handed and we would ask for an amnesty

         20  provision.  I urge you to please enact the revisions

         21  in bill 363 as quickly as possible.  Thank you Mr.

         22  Chairman.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Mr.

         24  Sutter.  Mr. Masters.

         25                 MR. MASTERS:  Along with John, I'm
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          2  the publisher of Gay City News, and after 15 years

          3  of publishing lesbian and gay journalism in New York

          4  City, I have to say that the visibility and power of

          5  our newspaper eclipses any effort that we've ever

          6  made before.

          7                 We've grown to become the largest

          8  circulation newspaper for lesbian and gay people in

          9  America and hold a remarkable position in the

         10  cityscape of journalism in New York City.  Along

         11  with our other newspapers, the Downtown Express and

         12  The Villager, we just earned a, a numerous, a large

         13  number of awards from the State Press Association.

         14                 Our readership is important to the

         15  Council.  We're good citizens, good employers with a

         16  staff of 23, pay taxes on time, never have missed a

         17  payroll, provide millions of dollars in revenues to

         18  numerous local venues and provide, and contribute

         19  vastly to the cultural life of New York City.

         20                 We contribute enormously to the

         21  welfare of this City as well, by facilitating life-

         22  saving information to our readers, and we've helped

         23  to catalyze, yes, to, yes, to catalyze a ground-

         24  breaking debate on the role gay male behavior plays

         25  in transmitting the virus that causes AIDS, and we
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          2  support some of the same non- profit groups that the

          3  Council supports.  Among them, Gay Men's Health

          4  Crisis, The Lesbian and Gay Community Center, The

          5  Crystal Meth Working Group, just to name a few.

          6                 Our mission has been disrupted

          7  tremendously by this bill, and, as it is written,

          8  and is currently, as it in, as it is currently being

          9  enforced.  We have incurred dozens of $500.00 fines,

         10  some for minor infractions, have tremendous trouble

         11  keeping up with the paperwork and following the

         12  court dates involved.  I am no longer involved in

         13  the day- to- day business of journalism.

         14                 At the rate we are currently

         15  incurring fines, we're not going, we're going to be

         16  forced to reconsider whether continuing operations

         17  is sustainable, and whether that means remodeling

         18  our distribution model to a different method of

         19  delivery or restricting the area of distribution of

         20  our publication.  We're going to suffer and so is

         21  our community.

         22                 We currently distribute thousands of

         23  copies of Gay City News to everyone of the Council

         24  Members' districts.  We hear from those readers

         25  every single day.  They're keenly aware of the
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          2  newspaper bill the City Council has passed, and it,

          3  that it jeopardizes the street box on their corner,

          4  and therefore, their access to the information that

          5  we provide every week.

          6                 We urge you to accept the changes in

          7  bill -- in 363 that will have publishers regularly

          8  clean their newsrackses (sic) and certify as such.

          9  In addition, publishers will continue to respect the

         10  safety features of Local Law 23.  But, the new

         11  provisions will eliminate heavy- handed DOT fines or

         12  graffiti placed, for graffiti placed on our boxes.

         13  We don't do the graffiti.  We don't trash our boxes.

         14    Earlier, you had asked something about vandalism,

         15  words being scrawled on boxes, opponents to the

         16  paper, editorially.  Yes, that happens, they write

         17  fag on my street boxes.  That's not me.  I don't do

         18  that, but I got a $500.00 fine for it.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Mr.

         20  Masters.  Mr. Grecco.

         21                 MR. GRECCO:  Yes, my name is Frank

         22  Grecco and I represent Key Art Publishing, also

         23  Employment Source Magazine. We, Key Art Publishing

         24  submit this letter to address specific concerns with

         25  the enforcement and administration of Local Law
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          2  Number 23 regarding newsracks in the City of New

          3  York.

          4                 My company would first like to

          5  comment that Key Art Publishing, Employment Source

          6  Magazine, has welcomed the new law and worked

          7  diligently to comply with the law's strict

          8  guidelines regarding appearance, placement and

          9  safety concerns. As our outdoor boxes comprise

         10  nearly 80 percent of our circulation efforts,

         11  towards providing our job recruitment tool for the

         12  public to pick up for free, we are extremely

         13  motivated to stay in strict compliance with the

         14  newsrack law.

         15                 This being said, we have encountered

         16  numerous issues regarding the judgment and hearing

         17  process, as controlled by the Environmental Control

         18  Board and their administrative clerking staff, to be

         19  flawed in terms of getting a timely and

         20  administratively accurate court appearance scheduled

         21  to rectify violations that have come up.

         22                 We have incurred numerous trips into

         23  the City for court appearances for which we have

         24  called the Environmental Control Board clerk staff

         25  to confirm that the violations are on a schedule to
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          2  be heard for that date, only to get there, sign in,

          3  wait a minimum of at least two hours, sometimes as

          4  long as six or seven hours, only to get told after,

          5  to leave with nothing resolved, that the judge does

          6  not have any of our violations on the docket.  Many

          7  times, we can't even get a rescheduled hearing, as

          8  we were told by the clerking staff that we can only

          9  call back later to discuss a possible rescheduled

         10  hearing date.

         11                 We've encountered numerous occasions

         12  where violation tickets, then I have exhibits one

         13  and two attached, that have been crossed through

         14  numerous times, re- written with a court date, that

         15  when called to confirm, does not exist on the

         16  Environmental Control Board's schedule.  We've

         17  showed up to many court dates that the violations

         18  are scheduled on a Tuesday, Wednesday or Thursday,

         19  and I've been told by both the Administrative Law

         20  Judge and a representative from the Prosecutor's

         21  Office that newsrack violation tickets are only

         22  heard on Mondays.  So, we have to leave, with no

         23  remedy for these violations, and have the

         24  Administrative Law Judge an order of adjournment and

         25  reschedule these violations for a Monday court date.
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          2    I have other exhibits, three, four, five and six

          3  attached.

          4                 Additionally, we were told by more

          5  than one Administrative Law Judge not to show up on

          6  any other court dates in the future, that is not

          7  scheduled on a Monday, as it would be a wasted trip.

          8    However, apparently, some Administrative Law

          9  Judges have heard these cases on days other than

         10  Monday, as we have received many default decision

         11  orders, which automatically ruled against us, for

         12  not showing up, as they told us to skip. Thus,

         13  leaving us exposed to the maximum default of $500.00

         14  per violation.

         15                 Additionally, the Environmental

         16  Control Board clerks continue to reschedule numerous

         17  court dates that are scheduled on Tuesday, Wednesday

         18  or Thursday.  So, we are in complete uncertainty as

         19  to whether to waste a trip down to the court to

         20  possibly avoid the violation or getting an automatic

         21  default of $500.00 on the chance that an

         22  Administrative Law Judge would hear the case on a

         23  day other than a Monday.

         24                 If we call the Environmental Control

         25  Board clerks to reschedule a Tuesday, Wednesday or
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          2  Thursday scheduled violation to get it moved to a

          3  Monday hearing, we have been told by the clerk,

          4  saying we have to show up to move these violations

          5  in person because that, those days are legitimate

          6  court dates and only appearing in front of an

          7  Administrative Law Judge can get the violation moved

          8  to a different date.

          9                 We are certain that your law was only

         10  intended to help create a safe and reasonably clean

         11  environment for which the newsracks could be

         12  maintained and operated, but we are unsure that

         13  you're aware of the administrative and logistical

         14  nightmare that the law, as crafted, has released

         15  upon not only publishers, but the Environmental

         16  Control Board and Prosecutors as well.

         17                 We respectfully submit these

         18  grievances in hopes that some reasonable adjustments

         19  can be amended into legislation to give detailed

         20  guidance in regards to the judgment and

         21  administrative processes in which the law can better

         22  serve for not only the publishers, but to the courts

         23  and judicial system as well.  Just on one --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Mr.

         25  Grecco.
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          2                 Mr. GRECCO:  Okay, I'm sorry.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Mr. Fligelman.

          4                 MR. FLIGELMAN:  Sorry, is that

          5  better?  I apologize.  My name is Jeff Fligelman.  I

          6  am a writer, a teacher and the Co- Founder of Gotham

          7  Writers' Workshop, a grassroots educational

          8  organization that was born here in New York City.

          9                 While I and others testified in

         10  December 2003, we hoped the Council would address

         11  two primary concerns.  The first concern involved

         12  the fact that the DOT was repeatedly citing

         13  newsracks for being in violation for even the most

         14  errant marks of graffiti.  Our second concern

         15  focused on finding a more reasonable process for

         16  addressing the countless notices issued by DOT.

         17                 In an effort to streamline the

         18  process, we asked for a simple mechanism, whereby we

         19  could certify to DOT that we have cured the

         20  conditions noted in their Notices of Correction

         21  without having to go to court.  Our answer to that

         22  request, I recently learned, is that DOT is not an

         23  adjudicative body, and thus, cannot make

         24  determinations of law.  That sounds convincing, but

         25  the DOT's position is a legal smoke screen.  We're
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          2  not asking the DOT to be judge and jury.  All we ask

          3  is that they reasonably moderate their own process

          4  of enforcement.

          5                 For example, a DOT inspector may cite

          6  one of our newsracks for a sticker on a door.  We

          7  then clean or replace that door.  We also take a

          8  picture.  We propose being allowed to e mail that

          9  photograph to DOT.  Indeed, law enforcement officers

         10  and agencies use their judgment every day to

         11  determine if a violation has been addressed, though

         12  that does not make them adjudicative bodies.

         13                 If DOT, for whatever reason, was not

         14  convinced that we properly addressed the Notice,

         15  they could send an inspector back to that newsrack

         16  with our photograph in hand, and the inspector would

         17  have the opportunity to see for himself if we

         18  addressed the problem, and if so, end the process.

         19  Again, not acting as an adjudicative body, but

         20  simply applying common sense. But, the DOT refuses

         21  to work with any us.

         22                 So, at considerable expense, we spend

         23  countless hours in court defending ourselves from

         24  potentially costly fines. In every instance where we

         25  have presented photographs, the judges ruled in our
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          2  favor.  Unfortunately, if the DOT had simply shown

          3  some discretion, we would never have had to go to

          4  court in the first place, and regardless, the

          5  newsrack would be clean.

          6                 Introduction 363 addressed our

          7  concern for a more reasonable process and re-

          8  focused the legislation on safety by excising

          9  language that the DOT has seized upon to issue

         10  thousands of Notices of Correction.  However, I have

         11  learned that DOT is not happy with this version of

         12  the amendment, because there does not appear to be a

         13  clear standard for determining if a publisher has

         14  used best efforts to clean his newsracks, his or her

         15  newsracks.

         16                 I am not an attorney, but it seems

         17  obvious that falsely attesting to a provision or law

         18  is fraudulent and therefore, illegal.  But, whether

         19  or not there is a clear standard for defining best

         20  efforts, it is not the sticking point for coming to

         21  terms with this bill.  The reason everyone is having

         22  trouble crafting an amendment is because everyone

         23  knows that DOT is using the current law in a manner

         24  that was never intended.

         25                 Further, I'm concerned that even if
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          2  all the aesthetic provisions were stripped from the

          3  current law, DOT enforcement would still not focus

          4  on safety.  Safety hazards are obvious.  They

          5  involve newsracks that are next to fire hydrants or

          6  on crosswalks or on bus stops and newsracks that are

          7  damaged. However, at present, DOT issues countless

          8  notices that the newsrack is one inch too close or

          9  too far from a curb and can do so if a newsrack is

         10  an inch too close to a canopy.  Thus, if past

         11  experience is any barometer, I fear that even if we

         12  succeed in getting some accommodation on the

         13  aesthetic front, the frivolous onslaught of DOT

         14  Notices will continue unabated and we will continue

         15  to be forced to divert time and resources toward

         16  pushing one newsracks one inch this way or the other

         17  and taking photographs in preparation to defend

         18  ourselves during countless hours in court -- 20

         19  second please --

         20                 At present tens of thousands of tax

         21  dollars are being wasted on an enforcement regimen

         22  that looks beyond security, instead harasses those

         23  who suffer at the hands of vandals and graffitists.

         24  It seems to me that the real goal of this

         25  legislation ought to be to find a way to get the DOT
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          2  inspectors to walk the streets of New York, not with

          3  a ruler or a white glove, but with a clear eye

          4  toward making our streets safer.  Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  I

          7  appreciate the publishers taking the time out to

          8  join us in this hearing, and also to join us in the

          9  numerous meetings we've had on this issue.

         10                 I'd like to make one thing clear,

         11  which is that, if it does happen, that certain

         12  publications are targeted by people in the public

         13  for violations, whether through complaints or

         14  through vandalism, that then can result in a

         15  complaint, that is something that is true of both

         16  aesthetic, as well as public safety provisions of

         17  the law.  We still would not want to change any of

         18  the public safety provisions, but to, it would be

         19  pretty easy for someone to literally, rather than

         20  place a sticker or mark a box up with marker, they

         21  can easily move the box right next to a hydrant, or

         22  further into the sidewalk and that would be another

         23  way that they would still be able to target a

         24  particular publication's newsbox.

         25                 Nonetheless, we would still find it

                                                            90

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  necessary to have those provisions in the law.  I'd

          3  like to ask the publishers and maybe I can direct

          4  this to Mr. Allen.  Is it necessary for a

          5  publication, particularly a publication that some

          6  may view as a smaller publication, to distribute on

          7  City sidewalks?  In Queens, I'm familiar with many

          8  of the local newspapers and we do have about a dozen

          9  of them in Queens, some of them use newsboxes,

         10  others do not.  Yet they're still able to distribute

         11  their publications and stay in business for a very,

         12  very long time. So, is it absolutely essential for

         13  you to distribute your newspapers on City sidewalks

         14  in order to stay in business and in order to

         15  continue to disseminate your information?

         16                 MR. ALLEN:  Absolutely.  In

         17  Manhattan, unlike Queen, commercial locations won't

         18  really give you space to put your papers in their

         19  stores, because real estate in Manhattan, obviously,

         20  is such a precious commodity.  So, we distribute

         21  many of our papers through doorman buildings, but

         22  not all doorman buildings allow our paper in there,

         23  nor does everybody in Manhattan live in a doorman

         24  building.  We believe that everybody should have the

         25  same access to the information that we provide
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          2  because we believe it is a public service.

          3                 So, we have many readers -- as a

          4  result of this law, we had to take many of our boxes

          5  off the street, because we were being fined for

          6  things that the only way that we could comply was

          7  actually to just take that box off the street.  We

          8  received many, many complaints from readers saying,

          9  we can't find your newspaper anymore and we don't

         10  live in a building that distributes it.  So, to deny

         11  somebody access to information, I think, is to deny

         12  them their First Amendment right as well.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Well, on the other

         14  hand, the, you wouldn't be able to find some of the

         15  daily newspapers in every single building.  People

         16  do have to walk to a newsstand in most cases.  There

         17  are some, some of the daily newspapers have their

         18  newsracks on certain corners, but certainly not as

         19  many corners as some of our local newspapers have.

         20  I think there are lots of banks in Manhattan that

         21  allow you to -- well, okay, I mean, I've seen in

         22  Manhattan, as well as in Queens, in Brooklyn as

         23  well, many banks that allow local newspapers to

         24  distribute free of charge in their ATM lobbies.

         25                 MR. ALLEN:  That may have been true
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          2  much more so ten and 20 years ago, when there was

          3  much fewer newspapers in New York.  But, now, most

          4  banks have a policy that they won't allow anybody

          5  in, because once they allow one, then, obviously,

          6  everybody wants to be distributing their -- that's

          7  why the boxes, I believe, are a very democratic

          8  thing.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.  Thank you.

         10  I think there is some validity to what Mr. Reilly

         11  said before about you bearing a risk when you use a

         12  City space, such as a sidewalk to distribute your

         13  newspapers.  I had not thought of your argument

         14  before that it is in the interests of equality, that

         15  you want to put newsboxes on corners that are

         16  accessible to everybody, rather than just residents

         17  of doorman buildings.  On the other hand, you open

         18  yourself to the criticism that your newsboxes are

         19  actually not on every single corner, or not in every

         20  neighborhood that may wish to read your content.

         21                 MR. ALLEN:  Not every Federal

         22  mailbox, we don't have every corner a mailbox and

         23  that doesn't deny people the right to mail their

         24  postal.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  I want
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          2  to thank you for joining us, and at this time --

          3  sorry about that.  Council Member Fidler has a

          4  question.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  First I just

          6  want to point out Mr. Chairman that I find the other

          7  method of free distribution that we see in the Outer

          8  Boroughs, which has been restricted greatly in

          9  buildings in Manhattan, which is the door to- door

         10  distribution to be far more of a problem in terms of

         11  litter and public safety.  So, I would rather have

         12  the newsracks, and of course, newsstands will not

         13  permit a free newspaper to be given out next to the

         14  paid newspapers for obvious reasons, because they

         15  compete in some ways.  So, this does become the only

         16  methodology by which these papers are distributed.

         17                 I just want to say one thing to Mr.

         18  Sutter and Mr. Masters, I can only imagine your

         19  outrage for having to pay a $500.00 fine because

         20  someone painted fag on your box.  You know, as a

         21  Jewish person, if I was publishing Jewish Week and

         22  someone painted a swastika on my box and I had to

         23  pay a fine for it, my blood would be boiling.

         24                 You know, it is clear to me, and

         25  maybe I'm different from the Chair in this respect,
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          2  that it is, given our success in catching people who

          3  paint graffiti, as opposed to someone who might have

          4  to physically lift a box and move it some place, so

          5  that there was a fine.  If someone wanted to target

          6  your publication because they didn't like it and

          7  given the state of homophobia in this City, I'm sure

          8  it's not a stretch to believe, that it wouldn't be

          9  hard to someone to tag all of your boxes and call in

         10  all of your complaints, systematically, and put you

         11  out of business if the law is not changed.

         12                 Or, if Tom Allen writes an article in

         13  his paper that you know, some wacko doesn't like.  I

         14  can tell you from my experience in the industry that

         15  newspapers tend to attract sometimes, people who are

         16  a little less than stable, and you know, they don't

         17  like, you know, the article about, you know, the art

         18  fair that was on page three and they decide they're

         19  going to tag every Our Town box and then call in

         20  those complaints.  That, systematically, you could

         21  be put out of business.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Council

         23  Member Fidler and thank you gentlemen for joining

         24  us.  The next panel we have consists of people from

         25  the community and civic organizations, Ellen
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          2  Goldstein from the Times Square Alliance, Susan

          3  Gottridge from the 86th Street Merchants and

          4  Residents Association, Enid Klass from the Murray

          5  Hill Neighborhood Association, and Rita Hirsch from

          6  Sutton Area Community.  Following that panel, we

          7  will have the final panel, consisting of people

          8  representing themselves, Meryl Brodsky, Howard

          9  Stevens, Michael Gruen, Liberty Rees, and John

         10  Dickerson.  Ms. Goldstein.

         11                 MS. GOLDSTEIN:  Good afternoon, try

         12  again.  My name is Ellen Goldstein.  I'm here

         13  representing the Times Square Alliance, formerly

         14  known as the Times Square Business Improvement

         15  District.  First of all, we want to thank the

         16  Council for making the regulation of newsracks a

         17  priority.  But, we do harbor some concern about the

         18  proposed amendments now before you and that they

         19  will not improve the streetscape.

         20                 Newsracks continue to proliferate

         21  haphazardly on our streets.  They continue to occupy

         22  space illegally on subway gradings and corner

         23  passages next to newsstands and in bus stops. We

         24  have been reporting these incidents just as

         25  frequently as we did before the law was enacted, but
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          2  we have yet to see any real improvement in the

          3  situation.  I don't want to repeat the concerns from

          4  other civic organizations, so I'll try to be brief

          5  and just focus on a few things.

          6                 The proposed changes do little to

          7  address concerns for our streetscape, safety or the

          8  pedestrian environment. Enforcement is difficult

          9  enough under the current law, reducing fines,

         10  extending the period allowed for owners to respond

         11  to violations and placing more onerous requirements

         12  on DOT, such as requiring photographic evidence of

         13  violations only make the law more difficult for the

         14  City to enforce, while rewarding negligent newsrack

         15  owners.  Instead, we should be taking steps to make

         16  newsrack owners more, not less, accountable for

         17  their property.

         18                 Bottom line, the regulations, we

         19  feel, should not be changed.  However, in the spirit

         20  of compromise, we'd like to suggest a few things to

         21  consider.  First, making the empty requirements go

         22  from seven to 30 days and from 21 to 45 days, we

         23  feel is absurd.  That means, that for 44 consecutive

         24  days, a news box can be a blight on the sidewalk and

         25  serve no distribution purpose.  Could someone
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          2  explain to us why a news box should take up valuable

          3  sidewalk space for over six weeks and serve no real

          4  purpose?

          5                 Second, we would like to create fines

          6  that recognize that most parties are trying to abide

          7  by the law, we acknowledge that, we recognize it.

          8  We are, after all, Times Square.  But, that deals

          9  ever more harshly with repeat -- but we would like a

         10  fine structure that deals more harshly with repeat

         11  offenders.  It's smart to lower initial fines, but

         12  have them steadily escalate to much higher amounts

         13  in the fourth, fifth and sixth offense and so on.

         14  Fines for a higher number of infractions should be

         15  higher than $100.00 or $500.00, or this will simply

         16  be a cost of doing business.  So, start lower, but

         17  get much higher for the repeated rule breakers.

         18                 A better system for monitoring the

         19  condition of newsracks in the City and the

         20  publishers is needed.  Penalties must be more severe

         21  for publishers who repeatedly break the regulations

         22  and are slow to remedy violations.  The response

         23  time for enforcement needs to be swifter, not more

         24  lengthy.  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you very

                                                            98

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  much.  Ms. Gottridge.

          3                 MS. GOTTRIDGE:  Good afternoon.

          4  Thank you for letting me appear before you.  I'm

          5  Susan Gottridge, a Board Member of the East 86th

          6  Street Merchants and Residents Association.  Our

          7  Association opposes Intro. 363 as it stands now, but

          8  we agree with the suggestions that DOT made this

          9  morning.  We think, as it is, 363 would undermine

         10  much of the good work started by the City Council

         11  and this Committee.

         12                 The East Side Safety Committee, a

         13  group of citizens, conducted surveys between 52nd

         14  and 96th Streets, from Fifth Avenue to the East

         15  River this March.  The surveys focused only on

         16  location violations of Local Law 23.  Newsboxes near

         17  hydrants and bus stops, within corner areas, on

         18  subway gradings or manhole covers.

         19                 Close to two years after the law had

         20  passed, the conditions within the area were as

         21  follows: -- And I only bring this up because of the

         22  question of the self- certification process -- 565

         23  boxes violated the law, 281 boxes were in corner

         24  areas, 127 were in bus stops, 88 were within 15 feet

         25  of a hydrant, 46 were over gradings or on manholes
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          2  covers, and there, there were five publications that

          3  were responsible for over half of the location

          4  violations.  Those being the Learning Annex, Gotham

          5  Writers, New York Press, Village Voice, and AM New

          6  York.  If you break out the violations by hydrants,

          7  corner area, bus stop, and gradings, you'll see the

          8  same names over again.

          9                 Our question is, why has it been so

         10  hard for the some of the publications to be good

         11  neighbors and serve the public as they claim they

         12  do?  I'm not going to repeat all the things that

         13  others before me have repeated, so, I'll skip ahead.

         14                 Local Law 23 has had a positive

         15  effect on the location issues, although compliance

         16  is mixed, and this is our concern.  Some

         17  publications respect the community, some have been a

         18  pleasure to deal with when contacted directly and

         19  they've quickly taken care of any of issue, any

         20  location issues that we brought to their attention,

         21  which we really appreciate.  It's a, although it has

         22  been hard to understand why others have simply

         23  refused to abide by Local Law 23 and obey the

         24  location violations.

         25                 Citizens do care about the safety and
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          2  appearance of their neighborhoods, which is why so

          3  many neighborhood and block associations exist.

          4  People put time and money into planting flowers,

          5  painting the Federal mailboxes that do get

          6  graffitied, extra trash pick- ups, power washing

          7  sidewalks to keep them clean.  So many of the boxes

          8  are dirty and scrawled with graffiti and stickers,

          9  which all makes for eyesores in these neighborhoods.

         10    It also shows a lack of respect for the citizens,

         11  on the part of a handful of publications.  We do not

         12  believe that we should reward the violators with a

         13  watered- down law.  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  Ms.

         15  Klass.

         16                 MS. KLASS:  Good afternoon.  I'm Enid

         17  Klass, representing Murray Hill Neighborhood

         18  Association, and we thank you for the opportunity of

         19  appearing before you to voice our concerns.  We feel

         20  the numerous, dirty and ugly newsracks jumbled

         21  together on our corners are a terrible blight on our

         22  neighborhoods.  We worked hard to obtain historic

         23  district designation, only to have our corners

         24  disrupted by the terrible appearance of these

         25  uncared for newsracks.  They're often empty, used
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          2  for garbage, defaced with graffiti, rust, grime and

          3  stickers.

          4                 We haven't felt that publishers are

          5  taking the responsibility for the maintenance and

          6  surveillance of these newsracks, which only seem to

          7  increase in numbers, sometimes, as many as seven or

          8  eight on one corner.  They are impeding pedestrian

          9  traffic, in fact, we feel, they're taking over our

         10  corners.

         11                 We are against Intro. 363 and feel

         12  there is a need to strengthen, rather than dilute

         13  Local Law 23.  We especially need publishers to

         14  strongly uphold the wording, neat and clean

         15  condition, indicated in this law.  As to what

         16  constitutes a dirty newsrack, perhaps publishers

         17  could simply ask themselves, how would they feel if

         18  these were sitting in their front yard, and they saw

         19  them every morning and during the day as they

         20  passed. Thank you very much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  Ms.

         22  Hirsch.

         23                 MS. HIRSCH:  Am I on?  Good

         24  afternoon.  Thank you Chairman Liu, Mr. Fidler, for

         25  this opportunity to speak to you. I represent the
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          2  Sutton Area Community.  My name is Rita Hirsch.

          3                 In April, 2003, the City Council

          4  passed Local Law 23, regulating the placement and

          5  maintenance of newsrack boxes. Since that time, some

          6  newsrack owners have made an effort to comply with

          7  the law, but unfortunately, others have shown

          8  contempt and a total disregard for the law.  The

          9  reality is that newsracks today remain placed next

         10  to fire hydrants, in bus stops, over subway

         11  gradings, utility covers and next to tree beds,

         12  blocking crosswalks and impeding pedestrian traffic.

         13    The City's sidewalks continue to be littered with

         14  tens of thousands of newsracks placed in illegal

         15  positions and maintained in despicable condition.

         16                 I'm here today to urge you to uphold

         17  Local Law 23 in its entirety, and indeed, raise the

         18  fines for non- compliance. Our streets belong to the

         19  City of New York and its citizens.  I would like to

         20  add -- it's not in my notes -- of course the bill

         21  needs to be worked on, and it should work with the

         22  publishers. I'm a member of ACLU.  I love the

         23  Village Voice, I read the Onion.  I don't want any

         24  of these papers to disappear, but just like, you

         25  know, when you have an adolescent son, he's got to
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          2  clean up his room, and I think the newsrack people

          3  have to clean up their newsrack boxes.

          4                 The publishing industry has grouped

          5  together to complain about the dollar amounts and

          6  number of fines they are receiving, rather than

          7  focusing their attention and resources on

          8  compliance.  They refuse to accept the fact that

          9  compliance with the newsrack law is now a cost of

         10  doing business for their industry in New York City.

         11  By lobbying for Intro. 363, they hope to dilute the

         12  newsrack law to a watered- down version that would

         13  defeat the entire purpose of Local Law 23, which is

         14  to institute enforceable standards for, and regulate

         15  the placement and condition of newsracks for the

         16  benefit of all New Yorkers.

         17                 If you would please look at photo

         18  number one -- you have it there.  It shows the

         19  newsrack boxes in my neighborhood at 57th Street and

         20  First Avenue.  They're in a terrible state.  Several

         21  were abandoned years ago, but remain on the street.

         22  New York Press, New York Sports Express and

         23  Employment Guide was cited a year ago by the DOT,

         24  and yet they continue to sit in front of a fire

         25  hydrant.
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          2                 If you look at photo number two, on

          3  57th Street and Lexington Avenue, southwest corner,

          4  a rusted, filthy box belonging to the resident, has

          5  been sitting there for over two years, abandoned,

          6  never filled with publications, and often filled

          7  with garbage.  The box was cited by DOT.

          8                 If you look at photo number three, on

          9  79th Street and Fifth Avenue, southeast corner,

         10  across the street from the Mayor's residence, the

         11  following newsracks are sitting in a bus stop, at

         12  the entrance to the front of the bus, Gotham

         13  Writers, the Onion, New York Press, Village Voice,

         14  Learning Annex, Jewish Sentinel.

         15                 In that picture, this was taken two

         16  days before the June 3rd original hearing, in the

         17  bus stop.  So, I must conclude, I thank you for

         18  having me here.  I've given you photos four and

         19  five, which shows some pretty deplorable newsboxes.

         20  Thank you for your thoughtful -- the City Council in

         21  April, 2003 took the first courageous step in

         22  applying the rule of law to the newsrack issue on

         23  our City streets, now it is up to the City Council

         24  to see that the law is enforced by giving the DOT

         25  the necessary manpower and the authority to do its
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          2  job, and let small group of greedy individuals know

          3  that the City Council is going to insist that they

          4  meet their responsibilities under the law. Thank you

          5  for your thoughtful consideration.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you very

          7  much.  Question from Council Member Fidler.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Ms.

          9  Gottridge, you cataloged 565 boxes that violated the

         10  law.  Would any of those box violations become legal

         11  if Intro. 363 was passed?

         12                 MS. GOTTRIDGE:  No, but I -- the

         13  reason why I brought it up, is to talk about the

         14  self- certification process.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Again, in,

         16  the point is, and a lot of the testimony I just

         17  heard, again, goes to placement of the boxes, and I

         18  think, you know, we ought to realize that we, that

         19  there's a total agreement on that --

         20                 MS. GOTTRIDGE:  -- Yes --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- And, in

         22  fact, 363 is going to help remove the abandoned

         23  boxes, which are, you know, I don't think there's

         24  anybody out there who wants to see the abandoned

         25  boxes on the street --
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          2                 MS. GOTTRIDGE:  -- Correct --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- So, that's

          4  something else that needs to be fixed as well --

          5                 MS. GOTTRIDGE:  -- Right --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- Would you

          7  agree?

          8                 Ms. GOTTRIDGE: Absolutely, but I, but

          9   --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- So the

         11  only issue here, you know, I guess that we disagree

         12  on is whether or not the publishers need to make

         13  their boxes cleaner.  The DOT needs to make its lamp

         14  poles, and whether that they have an obligation that

         15  we don't impose on anyone else, and what those

         16  issues are.

         17                 Without beating it to the ground, I

         18  would contend that we will all be happier with the

         19  enforcement of a law that can be enforced and the

         20  expenditure of resources on the problem of the

         21  illegally placed boxes, which do affect public

         22  safety and on abandoned boxes, which should be

         23  removed, if we concentrate our resources on that,

         24  instead of making people chase around every stray

         25  mark or, as in some of these pictures, the only
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          2  sticker remnant that's on the Village Voice box, in

          3  one of the pictures, is the sticker that was placed

          4  there by DOT for their Notice of Violation.

          5                 MS. GOTTRIDGE:  But the reason I

          6  brought this up was just to show you that -- we all

          7  agree on the location issues, the publishers, those

          8  of us in the community organizations, those being

          9  the priority and they're not going to change.  Yet,

         10  as of last March, there were 88 boxes between 52nd

         11  and 96th Street within 15 feet of hydrants.  So, if

         12  we use the self- certification process without the

         13  requests that DOT has made, I think we may find

         14  ourselves in the same situation a year from now,

         15  when we talk about the cleanliness issues as well.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you very

         17  much.  I do want to emphasize the point that Council

         18  Member Fidler keeps going back to, which is that

         19  Intro. 363 does not take away the force of the law

         20  from 2002, as it pertains to public safety and the

         21  placement of boxes.  We are looking at the

         22  aesthetic, often some very subjective aesthetic

         23  conditions that were provided for in that law.  We

         24  want to make them more sensible and make it in a

         25  way, make them in a way that allows the DOT to
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          2  really direct their resources to placing a higher

          3  priority on watching the placement of these

          4  newsboxes.  Thank --

          5                 MS. GOTTRIDGE:  -- That makes sense

          6   --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  -- You very much.

          8  We call the next panel, Meryl Brodsky, Howard

          9  Stevens, Michael Gruen, Liberty Rees and John

         10  Dickerson.

         11                 It's amazing that when the Internet

         12  boom came along, people predicted the demise of

         13  printed materials, that people would much rather

         14  read their newspapers on- line than have to deal

         15  with dirty newsprint, and yet, during the same

         16  period, we have seen a humongous proliferation of

         17  printed publications, proliferation in the stores,

         18  as well as on our sidewalks. There's got to be

         19  something magical about information in our

         20  information age.  Ms. Brodsky.  Please press the

         21  button --

         22                 MS. BRODSKY:  -- Ah, yes, thank you

         23   --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  -- And bring it

         25  closer.
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          2                 MS. BRODSKY:  I'm speaking today on

          3  behalf of Betty Doing (phonetic), whose a journalist

          4  for the Our Town magazine, which is a local, widely

          5  distributed on the Upper East Side, and as a

          6  District Leader in that area, I know, for a fact,

          7  that I'm able to get my face into that paper, which

          8  I would never otherwise do, the New York Times and

          9  so forth and so on.

         10                 At any rate, her testimony is as

         11  follows:  I state as in other hearings, that these

         12  boxes are not a public safety hazard, as claimed by

         13  the law's adherence to circumvent the First

         14  Amendment rights.  I have worked for traffic safety,

         15  especially conditions that predict pedestrian

         16  safety, and that she has, in the way of bicycles and

         17  so forth and so on, for over 30 years and I know

         18  what I speak of, and especially now, with more

         19  physical disability, I have yet to feel or be

         20  threatened by a stationary newsrack.

         21                 I believe that most New Yorkers would

         22  agree that, unfortunately, we know very little about

         23  this hearing and so forth and so on.  I, myself, as

         24  I kind of intimated, like the free press, I read it

         25  daily, and insofar as I feel like its an avenue or a

                                                            110

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  conduit for, for expression, for local politics, for

          3  local advertisers, I think it's useful.  I, on the

          4  other hand, find as abhorrent dirty boxes used as

          5  garbage cans as I do garbage cans that are filled to

          6  the brim, never emptied and in short supply on City

          7  streets, or as outdated and dysfunctional as I do

          8  with mailboxes that fall down on the streets and

          9  preclude people from walking on the streets.  So,

         10  I'm very much against the total negligence attitude

         11  of maybe enforcers to keep the street furniture, as

         12  we know it, in good order, working order, to prevent

         13  accidents.

         14                 I don't know that newsracks are

         15  particularly culpable suspects when it comes to

         16  dangers and public safety no more so than fallen

         17  garbage cans or tree, tree hoistings, or as I said

         18  before, even mailboxes.  We once had a Federal

         19  mailbox fall right across the street.

         20                 At any rate, I would like to say that

         21  I do represent that consensus of people that wants

         22  to enforce and maintain their right to a free press,

         23  their right to see what's new, their right to see

         24  what people are advertising, in all of its forms,

         25  and that, in fact, I feel that there is a consensus
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          2  of people who screamed and yelled and called me, as

          3  well as many other people, in order to get their

          4  issue of Our Town, or The Resident.

          5                 Therefore, I do feel that except for

          6  Section Six, much of the bill goes far in explaining

          7  what the problems of newsracks, as well as any other

          8  protuberances on the street are, but that Section

          9  Six that calls for fines up to $500.00 should be

         10  repealed in its entirety.  The other thing is, I

         11  feel that we do, as I understood, that people who

         12  have proposed these regulations, have gone to the

         13  U.S. Supreme Court on this, and in fact, won on

         14  other issues such as the right to, to proliferate

         15  art on the street, have found that there is an

         16  encumbrance law that goes a very long way to

         17  protecting the public safety.  Thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  Mr.

         19  Stevens.

         20                 MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  I have

         21  handed in some written comments, but in response to

         22  testimony today, I would like to depart from them,

         23  and just give these extemporary notes. Somebody said

         24  that the law has worked successfully.  I challenge

         25  any one of you people who really believe that, to
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          2  come to any part of my neighborhood, to any cross-

          3  section, 72nd Street, 66th Street, 86th Street, take

          4  the Department of Transportation's safety

          5  requirements in your hand and spend a good faith

          6  hour walking up and down the street.  You'll be

          7  disabused at the end of the day that this law has

          8  had any salutary impact on keeping our streets

          9  clean, neat and safe.

         10                 Secondly, I think that Council Member

         11  Fidler's ingenuous argument, disingenuous argument,

         12  trying to compare this to the obligation of a

         13  homeowner is really not apt.  Homeowners do not

         14  occupy their space for the purposes of a profit-

         15  making business the way storekeepers do.  If we

         16  treat these newsbox maintainers the same way we

         17  treat storekeepers, that would be fair.  That would

         18  be an interesting analogous situation.

         19                 Thirdly, why have newsracks at all?

         20  Is there a need to have newsracks at all in this

         21  City?  The only reason is that this is a free means

         22  of distributing this information.  If the publishers

         23  are getting this enormous benefit, there must be

         24  some means to enforce their obligations.  You're not

         25  going to have this situation corrected as long as
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          2  this is free, pure and simple.  You are going to

          3  have to create a fee, a reasonable fee, maybe 25

          4  bucks a month, per newsrack, to have the City

          5  receive the compensation, the money it's going to

          6  need to enforce the law.  Otherwise, this is just a

          7  smokescreen.

          8                 In the beginning of this hearing, I

          9  believe, Council Member Liu, Chairman Liu, said

         10  there was vociferous complaints by the publishers.

         11  Well, I mean, the DOT indicated they've had several

         12  thousands of complaints from citizens in a

         13  relatively, I believe it was two years, period.  So,

         14  the question arises in the minds of many people,

         15  whose interests are being sought to be vindicated

         16  here?  Those of the citizenry or those of the

         17  profit- making publishers?

         18                 Finally, I would just like to say

         19  that self certification is something that can't

         20  work.  It hasn't worked and it will not work.  We

         21  don't ask people to self- certify their traffic

         22  violations, going through a red light every year,

         23  you have to send in a note to DOT, I never went

         24  through a red light. You're going to have to have an

         25  effective means of enforcement. These boxes are
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          2  going to have to be inspected on a regular basis.

          3  Self- certification would be great if the publisher,

          4  once a month, would go to each mailbox (sic) it

          5  maintains and write -- take a picture and send a

          6  letter in to DOT, saying, I have seen this box, it

          7  is good, it is clear, it is fine, it is wonderful,

          8  here's the picture to prove it, and that person

          9  would be then subject to the penalties of

         10  misstatement, the way we do with many other laws.

         11  Thank you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Mr.

         13  Stevens.  Mr. Gruen.

         14                 MR. GRUEN:  This is a bit of a trick

         15  to get to you, sorry.  I'll also abandon much of

         16  what I had planned on saying.  You have my written

         17  comments.  I hope you'll agree to them.  My name is

         18  Michael Gruen.  I'm a lawyer.  I have been involved

         19  for perhaps a decade or more in trying to get this

         20  legislation adopted, which the Council had the

         21  wisdom to do in 2002, and have written on this

         22  subject.  You have a copy of one article in the

         23  materials that I gave you.

         24                 First of all, as written, and it may

         25  not be the intent of the Committee Members, but, as
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          2  written, this would drastically affect the

          3  enforcement ability as to all aspects of the

          4  existing law.  I can elaborate on that, but I've

          5  attached a sheet to the written comments, which

          6  details the provisions of the, of the bill, and I

          7  think it may do things that you don't want it to do.

          8                 My reading of this, I'm sorry to say,

          9  is that the publishing industry has thrown the money

         10  that it should be spending on cleaning and

         11  repairing, into lobbying and litigation. I will

         12  focus on the litigation, since you're presumably

         13  familiar with the lobbying.  The Learning Annex has

         14  brought a case against the City and many of its

         15  claims have been repeated here today, essentially,

         16  the leading claim is that two DOT inspectors

         17  assigned to newsrack duty, and there are no more

         18  than two, have had the audacity to do their job.

         19  They've issued many, many violations.

         20                 There's been no claim here that

         21  they've actually been unjustified, none that I've

         22  heard, only that the industry has been put through a

         23  lot of trouble in dealing with them.  If the problem

         24  is in the enforcement means, if it's with the

         25  environmental bureau, let us address that issue, or
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          2  require the ECB to address it.  It doesn't require

          3  the massive undermining of the law that we're faced

          4  with here.

          5                 Second, you should be aware that the

          6  language in the law concerning what's been referred

          7  to here as aesthetic issues, is language which was

          8  taken from case law, where precisely the same

          9  language was endorsed by the Supreme Court of

         10  California, a court in New Jersey, and perhaps

         11  others that I don't know about.  Language, in a

         12  clean and neat condition, in good repair and free of

         13  graffiti.  Those words have been sustained as

         14  constitutional.  I assume that that's because or

         15  they are in the present language because you had the

         16  good fortune to have very wise, experienced and

         17  excellent counsel in drafting the first time around,

         18  both from your own staff and from the City's law

         19  department.

         20                 Those people knew what they were

         21  doing and I think that we're now trying to correct

         22  something which just is not a problem.  Part of the

         23  concern with addressing this as pure aesthetics that

         24  I have, is that it goes beyond that.  Dirt, broken

         25  conditions go to safety, they go to health.  We all
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          2  know that, it doesn't require any proof.  We

          3  shouldn't think that aesthetics are divorced from

          4  every other aspect of life.

          5                 Alternative means, a question raised

          6  I think by the Chairman, handouts, mail, I also

          7  wanted to note that the industry seems to think that

          8  it's being discriminated against, that it's the only

          9  victim of requirements that its facilities be kept

         10  clean.  We're familiar though with getting fined for

         11  not cleaning off our sidewalks.  We're familiar with

         12  getting fined for having trash that somebody else

         13  throws in into our garden --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  -- Mr. Gruen, can I

         15  ask you to please wrap up --

         16                 MR. GRUEN:  -- I will --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  -- We just want to

         18  hear from the other witnesses also.

         19                 MR. GRUEN:  I will do that.  I wanted

         20  to point out to you that I would like to actually

         21  supplement these comments, but I suspect strongly

         22  that franchises who operate telephone booths and who

         23  operate bus shelters, among other things, are

         24  required to keep their facilities clean.  There's no

         25  discrimination here.  Thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Mr.

          3  Gruen.  Ms. Rees.

          4                 MS. REES:  Thanks for having me here

          5  today.  My name's Liberty Rees and I'm here to ask

          6  you to disregard Intro. 363 and firmly uphold Local

          7  Law 23 in its entirety.

          8                 The purpose of Local Law 23 was to

          9  establish a sorely needed set of enforceable

         10  regulations for New York City's massive

         11  proliferations of newsracks because there are tens

         12  of thousands of these things littering our streets.

         13  Both the volume and the collective degree of

         14  irreverence displayed by the newsrack owners in

         15  their failure to maintain or prudently site their

         16  boxes made Local Law 23 necessary in the first

         17  place, and both continue to make it absolutely

         18  imperative that the law remain in tact today.

         19                 Most newsrack owners have exhibited

         20  utter contempt for the law by simply ignoring it for

         21  the past year.  Despite the thousands of Notices of

         22  Violations issued by the DOT, an enormous amount of

         23  boxes remain in the exact same locations we found

         24  them in a year ago, in the same, if not worse,

         25  condition.  They continue to be placed in bus stops,
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          2  near fire hydrants, over subway gradings, and they

          3  remain filthy, covered with stickers and graffiti,

          4  often with broken or rusted doors and routinely

          5  filled with garbage.

          6                 Newsrack owners have demonstrated not

          7  only a flagrant disregard for the law, but an

          8  arrogant refusal to comply with it, and now they

          9  seek to forestall further fines for non compliance

         10  by attempting to neutralize the law itself.  With

         11  Intro. 363, they ask you to remove both the crucial

         12  language regarding maintenance, and render the DOT

         13  powerless to enforce it.  I respectfully suggest to

         14  your Committee that newsrack owners' lack of

         15  voluntary compliance with Local Law 23 indicates

         16  measures exactly to the contrary.  We have an urgent

         17  need for stiffer penalties and more resources

         18  allocated for stronger enforcement of Local Law 23.

         19                 Newsrack owners already enjoy the

         20  extraordinarily generous privilege of being allowed

         21  to use, rent- free, public property for

         22  advertisement and distribution of their product.

         23  With Local Law 23, New Yorkers demanded that in

         24  return for this enormous privilege, newsrack owners

         25  adhere to standards regarding the aesthetic
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          2  appearance, placement and hygiene of these boxes.

          3                 Today, owners wish to gut Local Law

          4  23 with Intro. 363, doing away with its crucial

          5  language stipulating newsracks be kept in clean and

          6  neat condition.  They also seek to make the already

          7  onerous task of enforcement exponentially more

          8  costly and so impossibly cumbersome for the DOT,

          9  that it would, in fact, preclude enforcement

         10  altogether.  By mandating convoluted requirements

         11  for repeated documentation and multiple instances of

         12  photographic evidence, the financial burden of

         13  policing these scofflaws would end up on the

         14  taxpayers' tab via the DOT budget.  Why should we

         15  have to pay the price of publishers' efforts to make

         16  the law more difficult to enforce?

         17                 Newsrack owners are attempting to be

         18  made effectively immune from the law, from the rule

         19  of law with Intro. 363, and diluting Local Law 23

         20  with this amendment would be taking a huge step

         21  backward.  It would be most hypocritical to pretend

         22  that there is a law and ignore it by making

         23  enforcement effectively unfeasible.  I say, the

         24  newsrack owners ought to have a choice, either

         25  absorb the cost of proactively maintaining their
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          2  boxes, or suffer the fines for non- compliance with

          3  New York City laws, just like the rest of us.  Thank

          4  you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you very

          6  much.  Mr. Dickerson.  Press the button please.

          7                 MR. DICKERSON:  Oh, it's not on,

          8  there we are. Much has been said here today that I

          9  have written down.  So, I'm not going to read from

         10  my sheet here, because it would be redundant.  I

         11  live in Murray Hill and as Ms. Enid Klass, who spoke

         12  before me, she represented the Association, I'm

         13  representing myself, just as an individual, but I do

         14  serve on the Murray Hill Neighborhood Association.

         15                 I'd like to see some kind of

         16  agreement, some kind of reasonable compromise

         17  between the publishers and say our Association.

         18  Murray Hill, as you all know, is sort of like a

         19  small enclave.  It's one of the most prominent, not

         20  to brag, but one of the most, the nicest residential

         21  sections of Manhattan, bordering Fifth Avenue to

         22  Third Avenue, East to West, 33rd to 38th Street,

         23  North to South.  It is primarily residential, and

         24  therefore, I do find that the boxes, the newsboxes

         25  are more of a blight to our area than some of the
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          2  commercial areas when they are neglected.

          3                 We have a newspaper, a journal that

          4  we publish every month.  We would love nothing more

          5  than to be able to make a statement to our, the

          6  people that live in the residences of Murray Hill,

          7  that a certain date, a time period will be allowed,

          8  that we can expect some kind of maintenance, every

          9  20 days, whatever.  We would just like to do that.

         10  We're not interested in putting any publication out

         11  of business.  But, it's time for a compromise.  We

         12  want to do that and I, listening to you I'm happy to

         13  hear that you're just as concerned about the safety

         14  as we are.

         15                 But, as stated earlier, safety and

         16  conditions go hand in hand.  A filthy condition on a

         17  box can somehow interfere with safety and

         18  maintenance.  I have personally witnessed trucks

         19  that have backed out of parking spaces, knocking

         20  into these boxes, they knock them over and pull

         21  away.  They have to be replaced, sometimes it's days

         22  before this is done.  But, if we could have some

         23  kind of rapport with publishers, we would like

         24  nothing better than to say thank you and for

         25  maintaining it It's the maintenance.  We're not
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          2  interested -- only thing I do have to support the

          3  Law 23 up until I see nothing else to take its place

          4  as effectively --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  -- Thank you Mr.

          6  Dickerson --

          7                 MR. DICKERSON:  -- Thank you for your

          8  time.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  I just

         10  have a quick question for Ms. Brodsky --

         11                 MS. BRODSKY:  -- Hi, thank you --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  -- Are you in favor

         13  of our Intro. 363 or are you opposed to it?

         14                 MS. BRODSKY:  Well, I'm in favor of

         15  those provisions that lift some of what I consider

         16  are heavy restrictions from it, that I think

         17  indirectly preclude even the conherance (phonetic)

         18  with voluntary guidelines, which are expensive too,

         19  and I'm opposed to Section Six of fines of up to

         20  $500.00.

         21                 I don't think there should be fines.

         22  I think we should to try to find out whether or not

         23  these people are willing to comply.  They're all

         24  here today.  They're all testifying. It's my opinion

         25  that in some cases, they scrupulously do try to keep
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          2  those boxes clean.  I'm reminded of Mr. Fidler's

          3  example about the swastika on a Jewish box or

          4  something like that and being told to clean it up.

          5  I mean, there is something ghoulish about having to

          6  clean up somebody else's graffiti and having to pay

          7  for it.  Therefore, no, I'm in favor of those

          8  provisions with lift restrictions and I will go one

          9  step further in saying that the fine should be

         10  eliminated.  Thank you so much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.

         12  Questions from Council Member Fidler.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Mr. Chairman,

         14  more in the way of comment.  First of all, while I

         15  appreciate Mrs. Brodsky being in support of 363,

         16  except for provision six, I do believe that there

         17  needs to be a consequence when someone self-

         18  certifies incorrectly, and there's got to be some

         19  enforcement mechanism as well.

         20                 If I could, Ms. Rees, I'm sure you

         21  probably anticipated the pun coming, but I find it

         22  somewhat ironic that someone whose first name is

         23  Liberty would confuse the word privilege and right,

         24  as it relates to the free press and the right to

         25  distribute a free newspaper.
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          2                 Mr. Gruen, with all due respect to

          3  your legal analysis, which I'm sure is sound.  The

          4  way Local Law 23 is written, in my opinion, gives

          5  rise to constitutional due process issues aside from

          6  the First Amendment issues, and notwithstanding the

          7  fact that it may be legal to require someone to keep

          8  a box neat, clean and free of graffiti, I disagree

          9  that it is a fair burden to place on newspaper

         10  publishers and not the people who fine them, as in

         11  DOT.  Because I frankly find the condition or our

         12  lamp poles and our bus shelters and our traffic

         13  lights, which are all maintained by DOT, the agency

         14  which enforces Local Law 23, to be just as bad, if

         15  not worse, from an aesthetic point of view.

         16                 And last, Mr. Stevens, I have to tell

         17  you, your testimony, you know, kind of upsets me.

         18  First, we self- certify things in this Country all

         19  the time.  I would imagine that you and I both self-

         20  certify our tax returns every year, and we're

         21  subject to audit to make sure that we have told the

         22  truth under penalty of perjury.  So, I don't

         23  understand -- I've asked this question of

         24  Commissioner Stark, when we talk about the absentee

         25  landlord surcharge in this City, why self-
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          2  certifying only works for some things, but not for

          3  others, and I agree --

          4                 MR. STEVENS:  -- Fair with respect --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- Excuse me

          6  I'm, I believe I've got the floor.  As it relates to

          7  your analogy in saying that storekeepers are held

          8  responsible, I'm with you a thousand percent.  But,

          9  you now what? We pass the homeowner bill because

         10  storekeepers were getting a privilege that

         11  homeowners weren't getting, which is that they, too,

         12  shouldn't be responsible if someone walks down their

         13  street, 24 hours a day, seven days a week, and drops

         14  a candy wrapper in front of it, and they get a

         15  ticket for it.  They have hours for which they must

         16  be obligated that their sidewalk is clean, that's

         17  where the inspection is coming.  So, I agree with

         18  you a thousand percent. That's exactly the standard

         19  that I'm suggesting be applied fairly to newspaper

         20  publishers.

         21                 And, finally, sir, you used the term

         22  profit making, as if it's a dirty word.  I don't

         23  agree with you.  But, for you to ask the question,

         24  why do we need newsracks?  Why should they exist?

         25  To me, is the entire underlining issue here, and it
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          2  has to do with their right to a free press in this

          3  Country, whether I agree with what they say or not,

          4  their right to distribute their newspaper in a way

          5  that is effective and efficient and fair.

          6                 MR. STEVENS:  I would just like to

          7  respond to the tax analogy.  We do have to submit

          8  information to the government. We have to give them

          9  our Social Security number, our W- 2 forms are

         10  submitted to the government, our tax information

         11  from all of our investors are submitted for the

         12  government.  You are now trying to regulate an

         13  industry that you know nothing about.  You don't

         14  know where any of these newsboxes are located.

         15                 So, unless you require these people

         16  to register with you, and you have heard from your

         17  own Commissioner that 78 percent don't, in the past

         18  year, unless you put some teeth into this law, to

         19  make self- certification meaningful, it's just, it's

         20  just a shadow show.

         21                 I appreciate how many of you people

         22  depend upon the local press to get your press

         23  releases out, to get your public, you know, your

         24  newsletters out to your constituents, but think of

         25  what some of us are subjected to as a result of
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          2  that. Most of these violations have nothing to do

          3  with graffiti. You've seen these pictures, you've

          4  seen these illegal boxes. Even if we put aside the

          5  graffiti issue, there is a major problem here that

          6  needs to be addressed and I hope that this law will

          7  be amended in a way that it will meaningfully

          8  address this problem.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Mr. Stevens,

         10  I'd urge you to read 363, because the issues that --

         11  many of the issues you just raised, are totally

         12  unaffected by 363.  The placement issues, the public

         13  safety issues, the registration issues.  In fact,

         14  some of those are tightened, as I'm sure you would

         15  like, and the net result, I hope and believe would

         16  be, that the parts of the law that we at least all

         17  can say we agree on, will be enforced more

         18  effectively, and the publishers will know that it's

         19  going to be enforced more effectively because they

         20  won't be running around tracing every stray mark of

         21  graffiti.  That they'll be making sure that they do

         22  respond and move an illegally placed box, and if

         23  it's an illegally placed box, I'm with you a

         24  thousand percent, it ought to be removed.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Council

                                                            129

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  Member Fidler. Let me also say -- Mr. Gruen, a brief

          3  comment.

          4                 MR. GRUEN:  May I comment briefly?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Yes.

          6                 MR. GRUEN:  In defense of Miss Rees'

          7  first name, I'd like to point out that there

          8  actually is a distinction between liberty and

          9  privilege here and that the placement of newsracks

         10  does go beyond the rights ensured by the First

         11  Amendment.  The First Amendment, in my view at

         12  least, allows for distribution of newspapers and

         13  other written material freely, by hand.  It has

         14  nothing to do with the placement of physical

         15  furniture on a permanent basis, on the streets of

         16  the City.  My article covers that.  I hope that

         17  you'll all take a look at it.

         18                 Secondly, I agree with Councilman

         19  Fidler, that there may be other constitutional

         20  issues involved, due process, certainly is a very

         21  important consideration here.  But, the cash case,

         22  which is referred to in a footnote in my written

         23  materials, explicitly approves of the precise

         24  language that we're addressing here as under the due

         25  process clause, as well as the First Amendment.
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          2  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Mr.

          4  Gruen.  There being no other witnesses today.  I

          5  want to thank everybody for participating in this

          6  hearing and we are adjourned.

          7                 (Meeting adjourned)

          8                 (Following written testimony was read

          9  into the record)

         10  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         11  ANDREW M. MANSHEL

         12  ATTORNEY AND RESIDENT OF MANHATTAN

         13                 Mr. Chairman, members of the

         14  Committee, thank you for this opportunity to appear

         15  before you today.  My name is Andy Manshel, I am and

         16  attorney and a resident of Manhattan.  I am

         17  testifying today to share with you the reasons for

         18  my concerns about Into. 363.

         19                 With the adoption of Local Law 23 in

         20  the last couple of years, this Council, under the

         21  leadership of the Chair, this Committee,

         22  particularly Council Member Moskowitz, and Speaker

         23  Miller, took a bold step forward in attempting to

         24  address one of the more significant, annoying and

         25  unfortunately difficult, issues confronting
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          2  residents of our great and beautiful city- the

          3  proliferation of news boxes on the corners and

          4  sidewalks of New York.

          5                 I recognize the important role that

          6  newspapers, both daily and weekly, play in the life

          7  of our community. Particularly for neighborhood

          8  weeklies, sidewalk distribution boxes are an

          9  important component in their circulation strategy.

         10  Under its current ownership, my own local free

         11  weekly, the West Side Spirit, has become a vital and

         12  respected source of information about local issues

         13  in our neighborhood.  I also recognize that some

         14  publications, particularly the daily papers, have

         15  taken seriously their responsibility in occupying

         16  public space for a commercial purpose- they have

         17  been responsive to community requests with respect

         18  to newsrack locations, and have done a fair job in

         19  keeping their machines stocked and maintained.

         20                 The U.S. Constitution requires that

         21  all publications be legally treated in the same

         22  manner- paid and unpaid, newspapers and flyers, good

         23  corporate citizens and bad. And, as I am sure the

         24  members of this Council know all too well, when

         25  making laws and rules, they have to be tailored to
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          2  control the action of the worst actors, rather than

          3  the best.  This Council took on the challenge of

          4  addressing the physical and visual problems created

          5  by unregulated, dirty, poorly located, and poorly

          6  maintained boxes when it adopted Local Law 23.  It

          7  tried to sensitively balance the competing interests

          8  of pedestrians and publications.  Council leadership

          9  seemed to be making every effort to satisfy the

         10  publisher's many concerns.

         11                 Unfortunately, in my view, Intro. 363

         12  goes another step in lowering the level of publisher

         13  responsibility for their commercial occupation of

         14  the public way.  I fear that the limited

         15  effectiveness of Local Law 23 will be seriously

         16  compromised by the changes contained in the bill

         17  before you.  Publishers should be able to keep their

         18  boxes clean and litter free- it is the minimum this

         19  Council has the right to expect from the publishers

         20  for their free use of public corners and sidewalks.

         21  Perhaps they should contract out the job of cleaning

         22  and maintaining the boxes to job training programs?

         23  Such an effort would create many of just the kind of

         24  entry- level jobs this city needs.

         25                 I would ask the members of this
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          2  Committee, before adopting the proposal now before

          3  you, to look seriously into the impact Local Law 23

          4  has had on our neighborhoods. Have conditions really

          5  improved?  How many of the newsboxes now on our

          6  sidewalks comply with the current law?  How many

          7  have been removed as a result of the law?  How much

          8  has the City actually collected in fines from

          9  violations of the law?  From my perspective, while

         10  Local Law 23 was a good first step in addressing the

         11  problems created by sidewalk clutter, its provisions

         12  need to be strengthened and not weakened.

         13  Opportunities to cure and cure periods need to be

         14  shortened and not lengthened if the Council's

         15  efforts to deal with the balancing of the competing

         16  uses of our sidewalks are to be rebalanced in favor

         17  of the pedestrian and citizen.

         18                 It is unfortunate that not all of the

         19  publishers meet the high standards set by the

         20  leaders of the industry on this issue.  But, there

         21  do need to be strong regulations of news boxes in

         22  order to keep corners clear and the boxes clean and

         23  well maintained, as some publishers do not

         24  voluntarily deal with these issues.  I thank you for

         25  your good work in the past in attempting to address
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          2  this highly visible and complicated problem, and I

          3  thank you for allowing me to testify before you

          4  today.

          5

          6  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          7  JOIE A. ANDERSON

          8  RESIDENT OF NEW YORK

          9                 I am speaking to you today as myself

         10  and as a 25 year resident of one of the best

         11  residential neighborhoods in the City.  I strongly

         12  urge you to disregard Intro. 363, uphold Local Law

         13  23 in its entirety, and seriously consider the fines

         14  for non compliance with the Newsrack Law to more

         15  meaningful levels.

         16                 Intro. 363 will completely eviscerate

         17  Local law 23.  I applaud Council Member Moskowitz

         18  for her very well thought out legislation.  Here are

         19  my reasons:

         20                 SAFETY:  News boxes/ news racks that

         21  are not maintained, therefore appear abandoned, and

         22  make excellent receptacles for a terrorist's

         23  incendiary device;

         24                 JOBS:  Maintaining the news boxes/

         25  news racks would be a lovely way to create jobs for
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          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  those in our city who currently receive welfare and

          3  who might be encouraged to do something in return

          4  for these benefits and/or where they live;

          5                 REVENUE:  Groups such as the Learning

          6  Annex, Gotham Writer's Workshop, Kabbalah Center, et

          7  cetera, should not be in the same category as

          8  newspapers and be allowed to hide under the same

          9  first amendment rights as newspapers.

         10                 They, therefore, must pay our city a

         11  fee for the sidewalk space they use- much in the

         12  same way restaurants that want sidewalk cafes must

         13  pay a fee to the city for their use of sidewalk

         14  space.

         15                 OLYMPICS:  I, for one, am excited

         16  about New York being chosen for the 2012 Olympics-

         17  New York must look sharp and clean not only during

         18  the selection process but also during the Olympics,

         19  otherwise it will re- enforce the views that many

         20  people erroneously have about our great city!

         21                 I am (optimistically) thanking you in

         22  advance for doing away with Intro. 363 and upholding

         23  local law 23.

         24                 (Hearing concluded at 4:00 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CHERYL MILLER, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 14th day of June 2004.
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         25                          CHERYL MILLER
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          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3
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          8

          9            I, CHERYL MILLER, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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         22                 -----------------------
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